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The Directors of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) hereby present the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the "“Group”) annual report incorporated with the
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March
2011.

The Group's consolidated net loss for the year was approximately
HK$171.5 million (2010: net profit of HK$303.9 million). The
consolidated net assets of the Group increased from approximately
HK$2,041.0 million as at 31 March 2010 to approximately
HK$2,501.8 million as at 31 March 2011. The net loss was mainly
attributed to the loss from securities trading business and the
potential disposal of the equitable interests in Liu's Holdings

Limited.

Trading of Securities

In regard of the volatility of the Hong Kong stock market, the
Group recorded realised and unrealised losses of investments
held for trading of approximately HK$68.7 million and HK$82.7
million respectively. There is no significant change in the Group's
investment strategy during the year. The operations of our
insurance brokerage business remained similar as compared to
last year. The application of insurance license was putting on hold
since 2009.

Property Investments
Property market continues to bloom during the year. The
Group recorded a gain from changes in fair value of investment

properties of approximately HK$5.4 million.
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Property Investments (Continued)

On 13 April 2011, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party to dispose of its entire interest in Future
Master Investments Limited (“Future Master”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company at a consideration of HK$120 million
(the "Disposal”). The major assets of Future Master and its direct
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Future Master Group”) are
the investment properties and buildings with net carrying value of
approximately HK$140.9 million and HK$23.3 million respectively
as at 31 March 2011 and these investment properties and
buildings are under mortgage loans from banks with outstanding
loan balances of approximately HK$69.7 million as at 31 March

2011. This transaction was completed in April 2011.

Pursuant to the agreement entered on 13 April 2011 in respect
of the Disposal, the Group also provided guarantees in respect
of the mortgage loans taken out by the Future Master Group to
the lenders for a term of one year from the date of completion of
the Disposal. A guarantee fee of 1.25% per annum calculated on
the amount of outstanding mortgage loans at each month end
and payable on a quarterly basis in arrears will be charged by the

Company.

Financial Services

There is no significant change in the financial service operations
during the year. The Group continues to provide finance to
various borrowers with carried interest rates ranging from 5%
per annum to 24% per annum. With broader the customer
network contributed by Hennabun (as defined below), the Group
recorded a significant interest income from provision of finance of

approximately HK$41.6 million for the year.
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Hennabun Capital Group Limited (“Hennabun”)

On 1 November 2010, Hennabun entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party (the “Investor”),
pursuant to which Hennabun issued additional new shares of
Hennabun to the Investor at a consideration of approximately
HK$200 million (the “Subscription”).

completed in December 2010. Upon completion of the

The Subscription was

Subscription, the Group’s interest in Hennabun was diluted from
approximately 51.93% to 41.71%. Hennabun ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company since then and became an associate of

the Group.

In addition, Hennabun completed a number of share
placements to third parties since December 2010 and the
Company's shareholding in Hennabun has been diluted down
to approximately 26.20% as at 2 March 2011. In early March
the Group further acquired 42,138,127 shares of Hennabun
through setting off an outstanding loan due by Hennabun with
the principal of HK$250 million and the total accrued but unpaid
accrued interest of approximately HK$2.8 million as consideration.
The Group's interest in Hennabun was then increased to

approximately 31.92%.

On 17 May 2011, the Group entered into another subscription
agreement with Hennabun, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to acquire a convertible note of Hennabun at a
consideration of HK$250 million with the principal amount of
HK$250 million. This transaction has not yet completed up to the
date of this report.
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Liu’s Holdings Limited (“Liu’s Holdings")

On 8 December 2010, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with Mr. Liu Lit Man (“"Mr. L M Liu"), Mrs. Liu Heu
Seu Chu Pearl (“Mrs. Liu”) and Mr. Andrew Liu (“Mr. A Liu"),
pursuant to which the Group acquired the equitable rights,
interests, entitlements, claims and undeclared dividends in the
shares owned by Mr. L M Liu and Mrs. Liu in Liu’s Holdings (the
“Sale Shares”) at a consideration of approximately HK$502.5
million (the “Acquisition”). Liu’s Holdings is an investment holding
company and is mandated to hold the shares, stocks and securities
in Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (“LCH Investment”) and
to receive and distribute dividends from time to time declared by
LCH Investment. Liu’s Holdings holds an approximate 45.33%
interest in LCH Investment, and LCH Investment in turn holds
an approximate 48.52% interest in Chong Hing Bank Limited
(“Chong Hing Bank"”) through its wholly owned subsidiary,
Liu Chong Hing Estate Company, Limited. LCH Investment is
engaged in property investment, property development, property
management, banking and finance, trading and manufacturing
and hotel operation. Chong Hing Bank’s principal business
is banking, and holds a banking licence issued by the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority and is subject to its regulations. The

Acquisition was completed in January 2011.

On 17 May 2011, the Group entered into an agreement with Mr.
L M Liu, Mrs. Liu and Mr. A Liu, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to dispose of the equitable interests in the Sale Shares
to Mr. L M Liu and Mrs. Liu at a consideration of approximately
HK$425.7 million. Details of this transaction are disclosed in the

Company's circular dated 25 June 2011.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
BEEZERARAF

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TREBEEREEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Issue of Shares and Convertible Bonds

In October 2010, the Company issued Firm Bonds and Optional
Bonds with an aggregate principal of HK$550 million. All the
Firm Bonds and Optional Bonds were converted into new ordinary
shares of the Company during October 2010 to January 2011 and

raised net proceeds of approximately HK$549.3 million.

The Company also completed four other placing activities during
the year. The total net proceeds from these placing activities were

approximately HK$637.7 million.
All net proceeds raised from issue of shares and convertible bonds

have been used as the general working capital of the Company

and as the resources for investment/acquisition opportunities.
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Turnover decreased by approximately 47% to HK$89.6 million
compared to HK$169.6 million in 2010. During the year under
review, the financial market was volatile and thus the performance
of the Group has been weakened. Income from trading of
securities included income from sales of trading securities and
dividend income from trading investments. Income from sales of
trading securities recorded a loss of HK$68.7 million, as compared
to a profit of HK$56.8 million in 2010; it was mainly due to the
volatility of the financial markets. Dividend income from trading
investments decreased by approximately 73% to HK$6.2 million as
compared to HK$23.1 million in 2010 as less dividend distribution
was received from the trading investments in 2011. Interest
income from provision of finance increased by approximately
74% to HK$41.6 million compared to HK$23.9 million in
2010 as a result of increase in financing activities. Gross rental
income increased to HK$7.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 88% as compared to HK$4.0 million in 2010, it
was mainly because the rental income of leased properties were
generally increased as a result of the bloomed property market.
Revenue from securities brokerage, placing, underwriting and
margin financing, which were also attributable from Hennabun
before the deemed disposal completed in December 2010 was
approximately HK$101.0 million, representing approximately 69%
increase as compared to HK$59.7 million in 2010. Income from
insurance brokerage business remained similar at HK$2.0 million

as compared to HK$2.0 million in 2010.

The gross profit was HK$87.3 million (2010: HK$166.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 48% as compared to
last year. It was mainly due to the loss from the sale of trading

securities.

During the year, certain provisions were made in accordance with

the financial reporting standards.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

IFIREBREREEEBIRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Investment properties were valued at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. The fair value of investment properties
were adjusted by an increment of HK$5.4 million (2010: HK$28.7
million). It was because the value of properties has changed
positively since the global financial crisis in 2008. Moreover, the
Group also recorded a fair value loss on securities held for trading
of HK$82.7 million (2010: a fair value gain of HK$98.7 million) as

a result of the volatility of the financial markets.

The Group is continuously monitoring the daily operation with
an aim at cost saving. This year, the general and administrative
expenses were HK$115.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 43% as compared to HK$80.6 million in 2010,
it was mainly due to the consolidation of Hennabun before the
deemed disposal completed in December 2010. During the year,
all of the direct expenses related to issuance of new shares were

set off against the Company’s reserve.

The net loss attributable to shareholders of the Company was
HK$189.5 million (2010: net profit of HK$297.5 million). Loss per
share was 10.45 HK cents (2010: earnings per share HK$1.23).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2011.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2011, the net current assets of the Group
amounted to HK$1,305.4 million (2010: HK$1,543.3 million) and
the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was 10.0 (2010:
4.5). The cash and bank balances were HK$382.6 million (2010:
HK$170.2 million).

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had secured bank loans of
HK$69.7 million (2010: HK$89.8 million) and had secured
and unsecured other borrowings of HK$265.4 million (2010:
HK$208.4 million). Gearing ratio calculated on the basis of
the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
convertible notes divided by the equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, was 13.4% (2010: 34.0%) at the end of
the reporting period. The bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group carried floating interest rates calculated by reference to the
Hong Kong dollar prime rate (as quoted by The Bank of East Asia,
Limited, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd or The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited) or lender’s cost of funds

were made in Hong Kong dollar.

The Group’s assets portfolio is mainly financed by its shareholders’
funds. As at 31 March 2011, the Group had shareholders’ funds
of HK$2,501.8 million (2010: HK$1,528.2 million). During the
year, the total net proceeds raised from placing activities and issue
of convertible bonds was approximately HK$1,187.0 million and
has been used as the general working capital of the Company and

as the resources for investment/acquisition opportunities.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TREBEEREEBNWR DN

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2011,
carrying amount of approximately HK$23.3 million (2010:

leasehold land and buildings with total

HK$60.8 million) and investment properties situated in Hong Kong
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$140.9
million (2010: HK$118.8 million) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group. Investments held for
trading of approximately HK$1,033.9 million (2010: HK$864.9
million) were pledged to financial institutions to secure margin-

financing facilities provided to the Group.

FOREIGN CURRENCY MANAGEMENT
During the year, since the amount of the Group's foreign currency
transactions is not material, the Directors are of the view that the

Group's exposure to exchange rate risk is not material.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set

out in the section “Business Review".

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material capital commitment at the year end
date (2010: Nil). In light of the amount of liquid assets on hand
and banking facility available, the Directors are of the view that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing

operational requirements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities at the year end
date (2010: Nil).
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERAA

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION POLICY AND
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2011,
members including directors of the Company (2010: 68 staff).

the Group employed about 49 staff

Staff costs incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration,
was approximately HK$28.5 million (2010: HK$24.0 million). It
was the remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees
with reference to their qualifications, experience and work
performance as well as to market benchmarks. Remuneration
packages, include granting of share options, were structured to
motivate individual performance and contributions to the Group.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 23 August
2002. The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 14 April 2011,
in Future Master at a consideration of HK$120 million to an

the Group disposed of its entire interest

independent third party. The major assets of Future Master
Group are the investment properties and building with net
carrying value of approximately HK$140.9 million and HK$23.3
million respectively as at 31 March 2011 and these investment
properties and building are under mortgage loans from banks with
outstanding loan balances of approximately HK$69.7 million as at
31 March 2011.

On 17 May 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement
with Mr. L M Liu, Mrs. Liu and Mr. A Liu, pursuant to which
the Group agreed to dispose of the beneficial interests in the
Sale Shares to Mr. L M Liu and Mrs. Liu at a consideration of
approximately HK$425.7 million.

On 17 May 2011,
subscription agreement with Hennabun, pursuant to which the

the Group also entered into a conditional

Company agreed to acquire a convertible note of Hennabun at
consideration of HK$250 million with the principal amount of
HK$250 million.

The Company has no other material event after the reporting
period.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

IFIREBREREEEBIRE DM

PROSPECTS

In regard of the vast market potential in the fund management
industry, the Company is exploring the setting up of one or
more growth/opportunity/other investment funds to capture
investment opportunities in the financial services sector to
potentially generate a more lucrative return. Looking forward, the
Company is optimistic about the prospect of the financial market
and will continue to explore any new business opportunities or

investments.

APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its
gratitude and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners,
banks, professional parties and employees of the Company for

their continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By order of the Board

Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2011

Annual Report 2010/11 F %}

R2

BRRESERTEZEXNEN ARBILERE
BEXRL-—EAZERRES HeES H
MERNRERES WIEESRRETEZE
REN YRIEEBEEEOR REKK K
REABFERT SRR X AEEZ RN
B ERE -

o=

REEERUREHARAZRRR XK
HRIT EEATRREZHERB RIS
BUARDHE -

EEEEW

REGEERARLA

TE
BEEEL

BB —T——FXAZTNA



Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew, aged 70, joined the Company
as Executive Director and Chairman of the Company in October
2006. Dr. Yang holds a Doctor of Humanities degree from the
Bulacan State University in the Republic of the Philippines and
a Doctor of Divinity degree from the Central Baptist Theological
Seminary in the United States of America (the “USA"). Dr. Yang
has spent over 50 years in the insurance industry. Dr. Yang had
previously held key executive roles in major insurance companies

in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lo Kan Sun, aged 57, joined the Company as Executive
Director in June 2008 and was re-designated as Managing
Director in November 2008. Mr. Lo holds a Master's degree in
Business Administration from Indiana University in the USA and
a Bachelor’'s degree in Electrical Engineering from University of
lllinois, the USA. Mr. Lo has over 28 years of experience in finance,
investment and banking in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr. Lo was an
executive director of Willie International Holdings Limited, another
listed public company in Hong Kong until Mr. Lo resigned in April
2008.

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei, aged 38, joined the Company
as General Manager in August 2010 and was re-designated as
Managing Director in September 2010. Mr. Hui holds a Bachelor
of Laws (Hons) degree and a Bachelor of Economics degree from
the University of Sydney, Australia. Mr. Hui has over 15 years
of investment banking, financial services and legal experience.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hui was a Managing Director
with Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited (“Credit Suisse”). Before
that, Mr. Hui was a Managing Director and Head of Hong Kong
Banking in Global Banking of Deutsche Bank Group (“Deutsche
Bank™). During his service period with Deutsche Bank and Credit
Suisse, Mr. Hui worked on and supervised the completion of many
landmark mergers and acquisitions and fund-raising transactions.
Mr. Hui was a solicitor with Linklaters in Hong Kong before joining
Deutsche Bank, and was admitted as solicitor of the Supreme
Court of England and Wales, legal practitioner of the Supreme
Court of New South Wales, Australia, and solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong.
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Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue, aged 46, joined the Company as

Executive Director in June 2006. Ms. Au has obtained a
bachelor's degree of science in accounting from Liberty
University, Virginia and has more than 10 years of experience
in business administration and accounting. Previously, Ms. Au
was the managing director of a telecommunication equipment
manufacturing and trading company and was the Chief Executive

Officer of a listed company before joining the Company.

Mr. Scott Allen Phillips, aged 44,
Executive Director in October 2008, Mr. Phillips holds a Master's

joined the Company as

degree in Business Administration from lllinois State University in
the USA and a Bachelor’s degree in Science, Industrial Technology
from Southern lllinois University, the USA. Mr. Phillips has over
19 years’ experience in investment banking, financial services

consulting and manufacturing in the USA, China and Hong Kong.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee, aged 36, joined the Company’s accounts
and company secretarial department in December 2010 and was
appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms. Chow
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons)
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13
years of experience in accounting and auditing at an international
accounting firm and has extensive experience in financial services,

investment and property development.
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Mr. Andrew Liu, aged 55, joined the Company as Non-executive
Director in November 2010. Mr. Liu is a non-executive director
of Chong Hing Bank Limited and Liu Chong Hing Investment
Limited (“LCH Investment”) (both are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He is the Chief
Executive Officer of Unitas Capital Pte Ltd. (formerly known as
"CCMP Capital Asia Pte Ltd.”). Mr. Liu, holder of a Master of Arts
degree from the Oxford University in England, was a solicitor with
Slaughter and May in London before joining Morgan Stanley &
Co Inc in New York in 1981. Mr. Liu was promoted to Managing
Director in 1990 before relocating to Morgan Stanley Asia Limited
in Hong Kong, where he assumed the position of President and
Managing Director until his resignation in September 1997.
Mr. Liu remains associated with Morgan Stanley as an Advisory
Director. He is a cousin of Mr. Winston Liu, the Company's Non-

executive Director.

Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, Brian, aged 28, joined the Company as
Non-executive Director in January 2011. Mr. Cheng is an executive
director of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS”), a publicly listed
company on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 659).
He is also a member of the executive committee of NWS and
has been with NWS since January 2008 and is mainly responsible
for overseeing the infrastructure business and the merger and
acquisition affairs of the NWS Group. Mr. Cheng is also a non-
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group
Limited (stock code: 665), and Fook Woo Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 923), also listed companies in Hong Kong. He is
also a director of Sino-French Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited,
Sino-French Energy Development Company Limited, The Macao
Water Supply Company Limited and a director of a number of
companies in Mainland China. Before joining NWS, Mr. Cheng
had been working as a research analyst in the Infrastructure and
Conglomerates sector for CLSA Asia-Pacific Markets. Mr. Cheng
holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Babson College in
Massachusetts the USA.
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Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston, aged 44, joined the Company as
Non-executive Director in January 2011. Mr. Liu was appointed
as executive director of LCH Investment since 1997 and was re-
designated as the deputy managing director in August 2008.
He holds a Master’s degree in economics from the University of
London, specialising in finance and macro-economic policy. Mr.
Liu oversees LCH Investment’s strategic development, project
implementation, as well as all aspects of business operations. Mr.
Liu also serves as a director of a number of subsidiaries of LCH
Investment. Mr. Liu is the son of Dr. Liu Lit Mo, LLD, MBE, JP. He
is also a cousin of Mr. Andrew Liu, the Company’s Non-executive
Director and substantial shareholder. LCH Investment is a company
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Mr. Yau Chung Hong, age 41, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in November 2010. Mr. Yau
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He is currently an executive
director of Capital VC Limited (formerly known as Sino Katalytics
Investment Corporation) and an Independent Non-executive
Director of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Chitaly Holdings Limited). All of the aforementioned companies
are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited.

Mr. Gary Drew Douglas, aged 61, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in February 2006. Mr.
Douglas holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from
University of Santa Clara, the USA. Mr. Douglas is currently an
Independent Management Consultant. Mr. Douglas has over
20 years of professional experience in general management, IT
business, project management, and commercial and retail banking
in Japan and the USA.
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Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam, aged 82, joined the Company
as Independent Non-executive Director in November 2006.
Mr. Whitelam is a specialist consultant in global branding and
international communications. After graduating from Pembroke
College, Oxford University, Mr. Whitelam joined the BBC before
winning a Fulbright Scholarship to study educational radio and
television in the United States where he gained a Master of
Science degree from Boston University. Following four years
at NBCTV in New York, Mr. Whitelam began a long career in
advertising, creating national and international campaigns for
such clients as British Airways, Unilever, Nabisco, ESPN, Colgate,
Cadbury, General Motors, American Express, Nomura Securities,
and the Bank of Montreal. Mr. Whitelam has worked as a creative
strategist in Boston, New York, London, Montreal, Toronto, Tokyo
and Taiwan and received international awards for his ideas.
Recently Mr. Whitelam has been developing brand strategies both
for companies and government agencies. Mr. Whitelam has a long
time acquaintance with Asia, having visited and worked in eight

different countries in the Asia Pacific region.
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Dr. Agustin V. Que, aged 64, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in September 2010. Dr.
Que holds Ph.D. and MBA degrees, both majoring in Finance,
from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the USA. He has been involved in
the field of finance for more than 35 years as a private equity
investor, merchant banking, corporate and development finance
professional in Jakarta, Hong Kong, Singapore, Boston and
Washington, DC. He is currently based in Jakarta, Indonesia,
where he is corporate finance adviser responsible for mergers
and acquisitions, new investments, business development and
investment banking activities to an Indonesian holding company
with diversified interests in agribusiness, property and financial
services. Prior to Jakarta, Dr. Que worked in the financial sector
in Hong Kong for 12 years. Dr. Que started his career in finance
in Washington DC, the USA with The World Bank, over a period
of 10 years. His last posting was Senior Investment Officer in
the Capital Markets Department of the International Finance
Corporation, The World Bank's private investment arm. Dr. Que
is an independent Non-executive Director of Mascotte Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 00136) which is a listed public company in
Hong Kong.

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

Agustin V. Quef L 645 RZE—FFN
AMARRBRBLIERITES - Queld 4%
BEXEELSERDMNBME VXD ANEEE
BRETRIPERB 20 B2/ ®
RILEREREE BART CERERR
BEEANLT EHEME -FE FNE KLE
REREREEMITEAINF - KERDEE
ARHEIELE BECERERERM 85 —X
ENEZERAGIZOHE FRE EBERERK
BIRTEY ZARBEEZTILER BEE
X VMERSERE - EMMETEZA Que
BLIREBZERETEI2F - Queli M E
BlEREy e RMERMAEE HEHERRITLT
EE0F - R ERE C B RBERF MmO A (it
RRTTELARERE) EXMSHNERK
BB - QuelB TR R —HBELTRAE
HESEARQF (RMHA:00136) 2B
FHMITES-



The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Company has always
valued transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving
a high standard of corporate governance, and the Company is
committed to apply the principles and comply with the code
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its
continuous compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had

complied with the code provisions of the Code.

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and
overall strategic development of the Group, as well as overseeing
internal control, financial performance, overall management and
operations of the Group. As of the date of this annual report,
the Board of Directors of the Company comprises six Executive
Directors, namely Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew (Chairman), Mr.
Lo Kan Sun (Managing Director), Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei
(Managing Director), Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue, Mr. Scott Allen
Phillips and Ms. Chow Mun Yee, three Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Andrew Liu, Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, Brian and Mr. Liu
Kam Fai, Winston and four Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Gary Drew Douglas, Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam, Dr.
Agustin V. Que and Mr. Yau Chung Hong. At least one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Director’'s biographical details are set out in the

Biographical Details of Directors on pages 15 to 20.
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All the Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed for
an initial term of one year and renewable after the expiry of the
initial term of appointment subject to the rotational retirement
requirements under the Company’s articles of association. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence, and the Company considers that
all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board convened a total of
29 full board meetings (exclusive of Annual General Meeting and
Extraordinary General Meeting and meetings of Board committee
constituted by the Board held during the year) and the individual

attendance record of the Directors is tabulated as follows:

EHFUIFRTESZCERZTHRS—F
BRZTHRERRETHAETARF A
BERMUBRFEEREIRE - SBUFNTES
EREBIUEELFERR MRBEFTEHSE
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Meetings
Attended/Held
HEET
RPN
Executive Directors HITESE

Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew (Chairman) BRI (FE) 22/29
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Managing Director) BB A (EFAEALHE) 26/29

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director) FTEBRE A, (EFHLIE)

(appointed on 2 September 2010) (RZZE—ZEFNA-HEZE) 15/19
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue TR+ 23/29
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips Scott Allen Phillips5t 4 22/29
Ms. Chow Mun Yee e/ E

(appointed on 28 February 2011) (RZE——F_A=-+\BEZMHF) 4/4
Ms. Kwok Wai Ming EAL

(resigned on 2 September 2010) (RZE—Z=FNLA-HEMT) 7/9
Mr. Suen Yick Lun, Philip BB s

(appointed on 2 September 2010 and (RZE—TFNAZHEZE

resigned on 15 March 2011) THRZT——F=A+HBHET) 15/18
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Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Andrew Liu
(appointed on 30 November 2010)
Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, Brian
(appointed on 19 January 2011)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston
(appointed on 19 January 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam
Dr. Agustin V. Que
(appointed on 9 September 2010)
Mr. Yau Chung Hong
(appointed on 26 November 2010)
Mr. Chiu Siu Po
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Mr. Roger Thomas Best, JP
(appointed on 22 September 2010 and
resigned on 15 March 2011)
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Agustin V. Quel& =
(RZE—ZFNANBEZME)

EAME A
(RZZE—ZEF+—AZ+BEZE)

R S A
(RZZE—ZFNAZ+TZBEMT)
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Roger Thomas Bestst 4 + X F#+
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Meetings
Attended/Held
HE R
BRARHY

0/8

1/6

0/6

11/29

11/29

9/18

2/9
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8/15
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Corporate Governance Report
TEELA®RE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated. The Chairman of the Company, Dr. Yang Fan Shing,
Andrew took up the role of providing leadership for the Board.
One of the major roles of Dr. Yang is to ensure that the Board
works effectively and discharge its responsibility properly. Dr.
Yang also ensures that good corporate governance practice is
in force from time to time, and all key issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei, the
Managing Director of the Company who joined the Company in
August 2010 and Mr. Lo Kan Sun, also the Managing Director
of the Company perform the role of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company and are responsible for implementing the Group's
investment strategies within those authorities delegated by the

Board and managing the day-to-day business of the Group.

Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston is a cousin of Mr. Andrew Liu, the

Company’s Non-executive Director and substantial shareholder.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which comprises four
Independent Non-executive Directors at the date of this annual
report. Each committee meeting was chaired by the Independent
Non-executive Director. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Company’s interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2010 and the annual report for the year ended 31
March 2011. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

®  monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial statements

and reports;

reviewin inancial controls, internal controls and ris
o f | trol t | trol d k

management system; and

e reviewing the Company's financial and accounting policies

and practices.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to

discharge its duties and has access to independent professional

advice if necessary.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings for the year.
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Additional meetings should be held if the Committee shall so NEREZEGERFT - BEREZEGHEE
request. The individual attendance record of each member of the  BIEEEHZBERERIIMT
Audit Committee is tabulated as follows:
Meetings
Attended/Held
HE BT
EE YN
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBITESE
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Gary Drew Douglas?t & 2/2
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Peter Temple Whitelam?%t 4 2/2
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel& =+
(appointed on 9 September 2010) (RZZE—ZFNANBEZE) 1/1
Mr. Yau Chung Hong* o AR e A
(appointed on 26 November 2010) (R=—ZE—ZF+—A -+ "BEZT) 0/0

Mr. Chiu Siu Po
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Mr. Roger Thomas Best, JP
(appointed on 22 September 2010 and
resigned on 15 March 2011)

# Chairman of Audit Committee

t?ﬁ%i
(RZE-—ZFNLA T ZHEIE)
ﬁﬁﬂki
(RZE—ZEFNAZTZHEE)
Roger Thomas Bestft 4 » & F#+
(RZZE—ZTFAAZT+-HEZH
YHR-ZE——F =/ +HAHT)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Gary
Drew Douglas, Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam and Dr. Agustin V.
Que. One meeting was held during the year and all members of
the Committee had attended that meeting. The major roles and
functions of the Committee as per the terms of reference are as

follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors

and senior management;

e  to review and recommend the remuneration packages of all

Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

e to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation

arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Committee has every right to access to professional advice
relating to remuneration proposal if considered necessary.
During the year, no Director was involved in deciding his/her

remuneration.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not set up any nomination committee. Directors
are responsible for identifying suitable qualified individuals
for directorship and make recommendation to the Board for
consideration. The Board will identify and recommend the
proposed candidates to the Board for approval of an appointment
as a director based on certain criteria such as appropriate
experience and personal skills that the nominated individual can
bring into the Board, his or her capability to maintain and improve
the competitiveness of the Company, and his or her ability to
contribute to the Board in formulating the Company’s policy and
strategies, as well as to the effective ways of discharging the

Board's responsibilities.

CODE OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS'’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the Code of Conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiry has been made
of all the Directors, and the Company is satisfied that all the
Directors have fully complied with the required standards set out

in the Code of Conduct throughout the year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the remuneration payable
to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services
and non-audit services were approximately HK$2,520,000 and
HK$920,000, respectively.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and
risk management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorization. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly
carried out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal
control policies had been properly followed; books and records
and documents were properly maintained; and the investment
or divestment was in compliance with relevant legislations,

regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Investment in listed securities is the core of the Group’s
investments which classified as investments at fair value
through profit or loss in the statement of financial position and
may expose to market price risk. The Board has continuously
monitoring the Group's investments with an aim to reduce such

risk.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements for each financial period which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
results and cash flow for that period. The Directors ensure that the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 have been
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. They will also ensure the publication of

which be in a timely manner.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
The Company's corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders, making corporate information and
other relevant financial and non-financial information available
electronically and on a timely basis. This includes extensive
historical information about the Group's performance and
activities via Interim Report, Annual Report, announcements and

other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as Annual General Meeting and
Extraordinary General Meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholder meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the

Group’s website on a timely basis.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. Details of the principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial

statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial

statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 43 to 214. No dividend
was paid by the Company during the year. The directors do not

recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Company for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 215. This summary

does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment and investment properties of the Company are set out

in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
convertible notes of the Company during the year are set out in

notes 28, 29 and 26 to the financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on

a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’'s listed

securities.

RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 49 and note 30 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of
the Company. The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Company’s shareholders comprise share premium,
capital redemption reserve, contributed surplus, distributable
reserve and shareholder’s contribution, less accumulated losses,
which in aggregate amounted to HK$1,902,638,000 (2010:
HK$1,125,711,000) at 31 March 2011.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totally
HK$3,820,100.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Company's five largest
customers represented less than 30% of the Company’s total

turnover.

The aggregate purchase during the year attributable to the
Company’s five largest suppliers represents approximately 54%
of the Company’'s total purchases and the purchase attributable
to the Company’s largest supplier was approximately 37% of the

Company’s total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no directors of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (who to the directors’ knowledge is interested in
or owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any

shareholding in the suppliers or customers referred to above.
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The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Managing Director)

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director)

(appointed on 2 September 2010)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips
Ms. Chow Mun Yee
(appointed on 28 February 2011)
Ms. Kwok Wai Ming
(resigned on 2 September 2010)
Mr. Suen Yick Lun Philip
(appointed on 2 September 2010 and
resigned on 15 March 2011)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Andrew Liu
(appointed on 30 November 2010)
Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, Brian
(appointed on 19 January 2011)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston
(appointed on 19 January 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam
Dr. Agustin V. Que
(appointed on 9 September 2010)
Mr. Yau Chung Hong
(appointed on 26 November 2010)
Mr. Chiu Siu Po
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley
(resigned on 22 September 2010)
Mr. Roger Thomas Best, JP
(appointed on 22 September 2010 and
resigned on 15 March 2011)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

All the Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed for
an initial term of one year and renewable after the expiry of the
initial term of appointment subject to the rotational retirement

requirements under the Company’s articles of association.

Except Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, Brian who will not offer himself for
re-election as non-executive Director, all Directors of the Company
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at

the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2011, based on the register kept by the Company,
the interests of the directors and chief executives of the Company
and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations,
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of

Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Listing Rules were as

follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company: REATEBRZHR:
Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of directors Capacity shares held shareholding
EEpng g7 FEROHBE BREAEIL
Mr. Andrew Liu Beneficial owner 830,678,634 17.62%
B Rt EmEAA
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew Beneficial owner 40,000 0.00%
BRME L EnEAA
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew Interest of spouse 26,000 0.00%
5 R WIE + (R
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue Beneficial owner 1,229,000 0.03%
R B £ EnEAA
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.21%
FFEERELE EnlEAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

The interests stated above represent the directors’ interests in
the shares of the Company. The directors’ interests in the share
options of the Company are disclosed in note 29 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed above and based on the register
kept by the Company, at 31 March 2011, none of the directors,
chief executives nor their associates had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the directors, or their spouses or children under the age
of eighteen, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the

Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2011, based on the register kept by the Company,

the following persons has interests or short position in the shares

and underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the

Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or

recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to

Section 336 of SFO:

REH

EEEERBERAF

Directors’ Report
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity shares held shareholding
TERRBER BB 40 FEROEE BHREBEAEI
Penta Investment Advisers Limited (Note 1) Investment Manager 500,000,000 10.61%
Penta Investment Advisers Limited (Ff#£1) RELEAN
Penta Master Fund, Limited Beneficial Owner 296,205,000 6.28%
Penta Master Fund, Limited BEmEAA
PMA Capital Management Limited (Note 2) Investment Manager 399,650,000 8.48%
PMA Capital Management Limited (Fff5¥2) AR AN
PMA Emerging Opportunities Fund SPC Beneficial Owner 327,710,000 6.95%
PMA Emerging Opportunities Fund SPC BEmEBA
Chong Tin Lung Benny (Note 3) Interest of controlled 250,000,000 5.30%

corporation

HEREE (PEE3) REGER 2 R
Mak Siu Hang Viola (Note 4) Interest of controlled 250,000,000 5.30%

%00 (HsEd)

corporation
REHNEE 2 Ew
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Note 1: These shares are held through Penta Management (BVI) Ltd.,
Penta Asia Domestic Partners, L.P. and Old Peak Ltd., all of which

are wholly owned by Penta Investment Advisers Limited.

Note 2: These shares of which 327,710,000 shares are held by PMA
Emerging Opportunities Fund SPC and 71,940,000 shares are
held by PMA Strategic Investments Fund. Both parties are wholly
owned by PMA Capital Management Limited.

Note 3: These shares are held by VMS Capital Limited, a company wholly
owned by Chong Tin Lung Benny.

Note 4: These shares are held by VMS Investment Group Limited, a
company wholly owned by Mak Siu Hang Viola.

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company at 31 March 2011 as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Sections 336 of the SFO.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers

all the independent non-executive directors be independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is
set up by the board of directors on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the directors
of the Company are decided by the directors, who are authorised
by the shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in

note 29 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital is held by the public as at the
date of this report.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the coming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as

auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Dr. Yang Fan Shing, Andrew

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2011
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= Ik

To the shareholders of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited
(Formerly known as Freeman Corporation Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to
214, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
BEEZRARAF

Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEERE

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2011, and of the Group's loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2011
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REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Gains arising from changes in fair value

of investment properties, net
Fair value gains/(losses) on
investments at fair value
through profit or loss, net
Excess over the cost of a business
combination
General and administrative expenses
Other expenses, net
Finance costs

Share of profit of an associate

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

ik

L&

ER

H i A e 2
REMELTEES 2 Wi
BBBHEARNFEINKRZIRE

ZRFEWREE (BR)FHE

HBH X B A HE AR

— M RITHFAX
A5 3
AL B

X VN b

BBEAER, (FHE)
g

FEERF (BE)

Notes

B =t

31

Year ended 31 March 2011

2011

S

HK$'000

BT

89,630
(2,364)

87,266
167,947

5,409

(82,743)

(115,409)

(194,325)

(43,298)
6,342

(168,811)
(2,687)

(171,498)

BE-F——#ZA=+—HIFE

2010

—E-FF

HK$'000
BETT
169,570
(2,814)

166,756
27,333

28,672

98,709

138,954
(80,630)
(57,197)
(14,550)

308,047
(4,187)

303,860
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZRBERDA

Consolidated Income Statement

e
Year ended 31 March 2011
B2 —_F——F=HA=1+—HIFE

2011 2010
—B——fF —E-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt BET T BT T
Attributable to: TH AT EA
Owners of the Company PAN/NETEF SN 11 (189,530) 297,486
Non-controlling interests JEVE R = 18,032 6,374
(171,498) 303,860
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER AATEBEREFEA
SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EBEERER(&#E)
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic HA (#1045 HK centsl)

Annual Report 2010/11 F %}
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PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in fair value of
an available-for-sale investment
Gain on property revaluation
Share of other comprehensive income
of an associate
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

FEERF (BE)

Hitt2EKA

A E RS 2 AT

ESEAEY 6
DIEBE QR 2 A EEBEA

BERINRBEL BN EH

FEFEHMEEBA (BRBE)

FEERERA (IR BHE

THAL R
ZAN/NETEZ 2SN
FEIE M i an

Year ended 31 March 2011
HE=F——F=A=+—AIFE

2011

—B——F

Notes HK$'000
Bt 5E BT

(171,498)

17 55,061
14 6,081

4,103

104

65,349

(106,149)

11 (150,814)

44,665

(106,149)

2010
—E-FF

HK$'000
BETT

303,860

16,974

16,982

320,842

306,258
14,584

320,842
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Investment in an associate

Available-for-sale investments

Other non-current investment

Loans receivable

Deposit paid for acquisition of
an associate

Investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Accounts receivable

Loans receivable

Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

FRBEE
WEBEREE
BEME
REE R RS
AHEERE
HIERERE
FE U & 3%
LR R 2 2 A

FRBEERE

RBEE

P& LS B 3R

fE M B K
BENRE ZER
Ho Al & WA
BiBBmARNFE
SIER A

B e MRTTHER

Notes
B 5

13
14
16
17
18
19

21

23

20
19

21

22
24

31 March
2011
—®——%
=Z=A=+-—H
HK$'000
BET T

33,908
140,854
779,489
425,729

2,000

20,000

1,401,980

28,125

5,254

1,033,901
382,624

1,449,904

31 March
2010
—E-TF
=H=+—H
HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(&E75)

94,863
160,780

325,273
74,248
64,323

4,243

723,730

395,286
539,325

20,777

864,913
170,249

1,990,550

1 April
2009
—ZTENEF
MmA—H
HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(& E7)

79,710
109,500

250,000

442,210

76,992

7,028

638,166
34,794

756,980



CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Convertible notes

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

REBAE

FE S BR 3X

H A &S IR e
FEt &R
AFERTTREAMEES
J& A 78
iE AR L

REBEEFE

REERRBAE

FRBRE
AFRIRITREMEER

A SRR
R IRB(E

FRBAERE

BEEFE

31 March

2011

—®——%
=Z=A=+-—H

Notes HK$'000
i BT T

6,938

25 135,121
2,478

144,537

1,305,367

2,707,347

25 200,000
26 =
27 5,523

205,523

2,501,824

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

31 March
2010
—E-TF
=H=+—H
HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(&E75)

60,456

81,642

298,153
7,006

447,257

1,543,293

2,267,023

221,118
4,895

226,013

2,041,010

1 April
2009
—ZTENEF
MmA—H
HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(& E7)

5,157

109,972
2,447

117,576

639,404

1,081,614

754

754

1,080,860

Annual Report 2010/11 & #k

47



FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRRERR

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
—E——F —E-FF —ETRF
=A=+—-8 =ZA=+—H MmA—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B RE BETRT BT T BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(ge&E51) (re&351)
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners ZER2XT#EE A
of the Company bR
Issued capital BEEITRA 28 471,370 38,135 195,463
Reserves ffE 30(a) 2,030,454 1,490,087 885,397
2,501,824 1,528,222 1,080,860
Non-controlling interests FERESR - 512,788 -
Total equity iR 2,501,824 2,041,010 1,080,860
Yang Fan Shing, Andrew Lo Kan Sun
BRI EE#
Director Director
EBEE EBEFE
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

BOXEEZERBRLQFA

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to ov;lers of the Company

A28

REERSHX

Year ended 31 March 2011
HE-F——F=A=+—AUFE

Equity
Share component of Share Capital
Issued  premium  convertible option  redemption Distributable
capital account notes reserve reserve reserve
TaREE &% q
BRIk ROBEE EEHD BRERE RERE  AREA

Available-
landand ~ forsale Retained
building investment  Exchange profits/ Non-
Special  revaluation revaluation fluctuation (accumulated controlling Total
reserve’ reserve Teserve reserve losses) Total  interests equity

REEH,/

4R AfthE HE
HHEE BTEMNERE REEGEE RIER (2RER) & FEREE  EREE

Notes HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Wi B%TR BMTR BMTr BETr o BMTn BBTr BMfn BYTn BETn BETr BETn BMTn EETr AETR
At 1 April 2009 W-FENEMA-A 195,463 347,607 - 4,880 485 895,331 35,131 - - - (398037) 1,080,860 - 1,080,860
Profit for the year KERET - - - - - - - - - - 97486 297486 6374 303860
Other comprehensive income FEREMRENA:
for the year:
Changes in far value of TREEREATESD
an avallable-for-sale investment - - - - - - - - 8,764 - - 8,764 8210 16974
Exchange differences on translation E 35 \\%MEZ
of foreign operations [3:53 - - - - - - - - - 8 - 8 - 8
Total comprehensive income FERREMASE
for the year - - - - - - - - 8,764 8 297,486 306,258 14,584 320842
Acquisiton of subsidiaries WEKEAR 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - 455810 455810
Deemed acquisiion of additional ~ B/EEENBAZ 2 ER
interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - (10) (10
Capital reorganisation hrEd B (175917) - - - - - - - - -1 - - -
Placing of new shares m%%ﬁﬁﬁ 180 18589 78602 - - - - - - - - -9 -9
Share issue expenses FOESIEE - (1,350) - - - - - - - - - (1,350) - (1,350)
Cancelation of equity-setted share IIﬁﬁH% il
option arrangements 9 - - - (4,880) - - - - - - 43880 - - -
Issue of a convertible note %ﬂiﬁﬁ%& % - - 45,63 - - - - - - - - 45,263 404 87,667
At31 March 2010 RIZ2-%F
Zf=t-8 38,135 424,859 45,263* -+ 485 895331 35,131 - 8,764* 8* 80,246 1,528,222 512,788 2,041,010
At 1 April 2010 KZF-TEmA-A 38,135 424,859 45,263 -+ 485 895331* 35,131 - 8,764* 8* 80,246 1,528,222 512,788 2,041,010
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - - - - (189530)  (189530) 18,032 (171498
Other comprehensive income for the  ZEFEB2EMRA:
year:
Changes in fair value of TREERENTERY
an avallable-for-sale investment - - - - - - - - 28,428 - - 28428 26,633 55,061
(Gain on property revaluation nEERYE 14 - - - - - - - 6,081 - - - 6,081 - 6,081
Share of other comprehensive  HEEALE]
income of an associate Ep2EAA - - - - - - - - 4103 - - 4103 - 4103
Exchange differences on transation BE R0 5HEEZ
of foreign operations EfZE - - - - - - - - - 104 - 104 - 104
Total comprehensive income for the  AEE2ERALE
year - - - - - - - 6,081 32,531 104 (189530)  (150,814) 44665 (106,149)
Issue of convertible notes BRUAREE 2% - - 4,725 - - - - - - - - 475 447 9,19
Redemption of comvertible notes BT AKZE 2% - - W - - - - - - -0 @0 079 (43,580
Issue of new shares on conversion of mmwﬁ
convertible notes mEaHk 28(d) 200000 319,019 - - - - - - - - - 519019 - 519,019
Deemed acquistion of additional ﬁ‘(ﬁi‘é’ﬂﬁ TEA AZEN
interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (5,276) (5,276)
Deemed disposal of interests in ﬁ%’ﬂﬁ@
subsidiaries s 32a) - - (1,440) - - - - - (37,192 - 1,440 (37192) (535525 (572,717
Fquity-settled share option RRAGERRE, TH
arangement 9 - - - 1,051 - - - - - - - 1,051 - 1,051
Exercise of share options ffEBRE 9 3800 18911 - (1,051) - - - - - - - 21,660 - 21,660
Share issue expenses [ESIESS 8 - (15809 - - - - - - - - - (15809 - (15809
Placing of new shares EERR 28(e) 229435 424,024 - - - - - - - - - 653,459 - 653,459
31 March 2011 %%
ZB=t-8 471370 1,171,008 -+ - 485 895,331% 35,131% 6,081* 4103 15 @1797F 2,501,824 - 250184
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ERFRBEEOEGEEVBRAREAN LGRS
HK$2,030,454,000 (2010: HK$1,490,087,000) in the consolidated A %2,030,454,0000C ( ZE—ZTF : B
statement of financial position. 1,490,087,0007T) ©
# The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between 4

the aggregate amount of the share capital and share premium
account of a company which was the former holding company of
the Group and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

REBR IR B IR A EEATER A R Z BAR
ROV ER 2 BEARARBR - AN -FRE
SEBEHCDETRHZEEZIEZR
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Year ended 31 March 2011
BE-F——F=A=F—AIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of profit of an associate
Interest income
Depreciation
Fair value (gains)/losses on investments
at fair value through profit or loss,
net
Fair value gain on derivative
components of convertible notes
Loss on redemption of convertible
notes
Loss on disposal of an available-for-
sale investment
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off
of items of property, plant and
equipment

Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries

Gains arising from changes in fair
value of investment properties, net

Gain on disposal of investment
properties

Excess over the cost of a business
combination

Gain on deemed disposal of interests

in subsidiaries
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BBBEARFEINELZ
BREZNTE(KE)
B 183
AMEEETETARNZ
NP EWE
BOAgmRREZER

HERHREERE ZER

HEBEME  BE R
REHEB BB
(Mzm)

HERBLRZEE
(Yt )

REMERNFELHRES
Z W F

HEREMFE 2 Wt

BHER G FFRA

BIEHEMB AR Rz Wa

Notes

B =t

31

2011

S
HK$'000
BT

(168,811)

43,298

(6,342)

(70,415)

8,244

82,743

(32,470)

19,108

(39)

1,680

(5,409)

(6,756)

2010
—T-ZF
HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(#eE7)

308,047
14,550

(43,430)

6,767

(98,709)

(16,030)

51,247

1,940

84

(2,500)

(28,672)

(647)

(138,954)



Year ended 31 March 2011
HE=F——F=A=+—AIFE

2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-ZF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BET T BT T
(Restated)
(gE5))
Loss on deemed disposals of RIELEBE NE 2 KB
an associate 6 50,697 -
Net gain from additional shares issued B2 QA BB /TEEIMNRD 2
by an associate W= 5 (18,821) -
Impairment of an available-for-sale AHEERERE
investment 6 76,813 -
Impairment of accounts receivable & W BR OB 6 10,456 7,108
Reversal of impairment of loans JE W E SR B B BF 58
receivable, net 6 - (3,098)
Equity-settled share option expense PARR A 45 BB IR R 2 29 1,051 -
(14,973) 57,703
Decrease/(increase) in accounts FEURBR U A (& n)
receivable 39,794 (233,566)
Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable  JEUWE R L~ (3E0) (1,713,412) 52,665
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BT FIE 2 & &
other receivables B JE s R TE S 0 (32,538) (5,154)
Increase in investments at fair value FiRBEmARTEINERZ
through profit or loss & 1200 (269,177) (106,862)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable JEBEFRIZ AN, (A 4) 11,861 (11,501)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HEMEAZIBENETER
and accruals #hn, CRd) 607,481 (72,947)
Cash used in operations EEMARS (1,370,964) (319,662)
Interest received B W F B 67,586 43,430
Interest paid EF B (18,251) (5,657)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNBEENEH = (85)
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Year ended 31 March 2011
BE-F——F=A=F—AIFE

Net cash flows used in operating

activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Purchases of investment properties

Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties

Purchases of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds from disposal of an available-
for-sale investment

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries

Deemed disposal of interests in
subsidiaries

Deposit paid for acquisition of an

associate

Net cash flows used in investing

activities

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &
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REFHFMELEZRERE

BEYME BENRERE

HEME BB K&
P15 3R
BEREME
HEREM R Z SR

RBIHEA Z

BEAHLERE

HERMHEERE ZHEHRIEA

Y B T /B8 2 A

& M8 R R 2 FT S 3R
BIELENB AR EE
REBE AR ZES
REERSMBAZ
REeREBFEFR

Notes

B =t

31
32(b)

32(a)

2011

S

HK$’000
BET R

(1,321,629)

(9,132)

444
(1,121)

(502,542)

52,000

(464,991)

(20,000)

(945,342)

2010

—E-FF

HK$'000
BT T
(Restated)
(#eE7)

(281,974)

(1,095)

1
(5,092)

6,647

(618,538)

308,299

304,121
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of shares of a subsidiary

Proceeds from placement of new shares
and rights issues

Proceeds from share options exercised

Share issue expenses

Drawdown of bank and other
borrowings

Repayment of bank and other
borrowings

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes

Redemption of convertible notes

Increase in margin loan borrowings, net

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,

net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Notes
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Year ended 31 March 2011
HE=F——F=A=+—AIFE

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(Restated)

(&%)

(4,000) -
653,459 97,191
21,660 -
(15,805) (1,350)
1,421,755 213,673
(203,909) (49,224)
1,050,000 301,000
(501,000) (150,000)
57,075 8,356
2,479,235 419,646
212,264 135,285
170,249 34,794
111 170
382,624 170,249
382,624 170,249
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Due from subsidiaries

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Interest-bearing other borrowing

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity
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Notes HK$'000
M RE BET T
15 72,947
21 431
15 2,456,705
24 59,662
2,516,798

15 13,383
2,354

15,737

2,501,061

2,574,008

25 200,000
2,374,008

28 471,370
30(b) 1,902,638
2,374,008

Yang Fan Shing, Andrew
BRI
Director
£
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HK$'000
AT

67,860

183
1,081,604
18,468

1,100,255

2,372
1,897

4,269

1,095,986

1,163,846

1,163,846

38,135
1,125,711

1,163,846



2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Freeman Financial Corporation Limited (formerly known as
Freeman Corporation Limited) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Room 2302, 23rd
Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
trading of securities, provision of finance, property holding
and investment, insurance brokerage business, securities

brokerage, investment advisory and investment holding.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
“HKICPA"),

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, certain
available-for-sale investments, derivative components of
convertible notes and investments at fair value through
profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERQA

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1
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31 March 2011
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Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 April 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2011. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and

dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit

balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a

loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss

or retained profits/accumulated losses, as appropriate.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 April 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been
applied on a prospective basis. The following differences,
however, are carried forward in certain instances from the

previous basis of consolidation:

o Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly
known as minority interests), prior to 1 April 2010,
were accounted for using the parent entity extension
method, whereby the differences between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the

net assets acquired were recognised in goodwill.

J Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the
non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced
to nil. Any further excess losses were attributable to
the parent, unless the non-controlling interest had
a binding obligation to cover these. Losses prior to
1 April 2010 were not reallocated between non-

controlling interest and the parent shareholders.

J Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of net
assets value at the date control was lost. The carrying
amount of such investment at 1 April 2010 has not

been restated.

31 March 2011
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards
Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption

of Hong Kong Financial Reporting

HKFRS 1 Amendments

Standards - Additional Exemptions for First-
time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-based

HKFRS 2 Amendments

Payment Transactions
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate financial
Statements
Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments. Presentation

HKAS 32 Amendment

- Classification of Rights Issues
Amendment to HKAS 39 Ffinancial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
- Eligible Hedged Items
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17

HKFRS 5 Amendments
included in /mprovements
to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
— Plan to sell the controlling interest in a
subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in
May 2009
Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases -

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009
HK Interpretation 4

Amendment Determination of the Length
of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong
Land Leases
HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause
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Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments

which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment

— Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

The HKFRS 2 Amendments provide guidance on how
to account for cash-settled share-based payment
transactions in the separate financial statements of an
entity receiving the goods and services when the entity
has no obligation to settle the share-based payment
transactions. The amendments also incorporate
guidance that was previously included in HK(IFRIC) — Int
8 Scope of HKFRS 2 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 11 HKFRS 2 -
Group and Treasury Share Transactions. The adoption
of the amendments has had no impact on the financial

position or results of operations of the Group.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes
in the accounting for business combinations that
affect the initial measurement of non-controlling
interests, the accounting for transaction costs, the
initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a
contingent consideration and business combinations
achieved in stages. These changes will impact the
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results
in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future

reported results.

31 March 2011
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Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects
of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(b) HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of
control is accounted for as an equity transaction.
Therefore, such a change will have no impact on
goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.
Furthermore, the revised standard changes the
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well
as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Consequential
amendments were made to various standards,
including, but not limited to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS
28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in

Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-

controlling interests after 1 April 2010.
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Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments

which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues

The HKAS 32 Amendment revises the definition of
financial liabilities such that rights, options or warrants
issued to acquire a fixed number of an entity’s own
equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency
are equity instruments, provided that the entity offers
the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its
existing owners of the same class of its own non-
derivative equity instruments. As the Group currently
has no such rights, options or warrants in issue, the
amendment is unlikely to have any financial impact on

the Group.

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement - Eligible Hedged
Items

The HKAS 39 Amendment addresses the designation of
a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation
of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash
flow variability of a financial instrument as a hedged
item. As the Group has not entered into any hedges,
the amendment has had no impact on the financial

position or results of operations of the Group.
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Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(e)

()

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 standardises practice in the
accounting for non-reciprocal distributions of
non-cash assets to owners. The interpretation clarifies
that (i) a dividend payable should be recognised
when the dividend is appropriately authorised and
is no longer at the discretion of the entity; (ii) an
entity should measure the dividend payable at the
fair value of the net assets to be distributed; and (iii)
an entity should recognise the difference between
the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net
assets distributed in profit or loss. Other consequential
amendments were made to HKAS 10 Events after the
Reporting Period and HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Since the
Group did not make any non-cash asset distributions
to owners during the year, the adoption of the
interpretation has had no impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Plan to sell
the controlling interest in a subsidiary

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary shall be classified as
held for sale if an entity has a sale plan involving loss
of control of the subsidiary, regardless of whether
the entity will retain a non-controlling interest. The
changes must be applied prospectively and will affect
future sale transactions or plans involving loss of
control of a subsidiary. As the Group has no sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, the adoption
of the amendments has had no impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

REBVBREERF 15 (KB KE
BB EENFE 1R (BFTA) MEAR
REBIN - RN RAEEFT BB H
SEAZETEZEWNT: (&)

(e)

(f)

B8 (ARMBEERBEES)
—-REBENIRAEFALRHERZ
BE
ER(BRPERERBERE
g) —REFEITRE—RAEA AN
FEHRMEED KR EENG T
BRIETT 0k - x 2 FE M AR ()BT A B
ARBEEREREDKATHR
EERBEARERER: (NEEEZ
o IRFEE 2 A FEFERMRK
B R(iNEXERE MRS EMD
RFEEREENEZERR/E
o BB R ERFI105 & & A&
FIEREBY I HMEERESHAF
IFHEZ I RBEEREKILEF
TMEHEMAREER AR ARH
RERARAHEBADKIFREE
E RMZERBY T EAKE
MR IR AR = R 4B

BERMBRELEUNESRFFLHEZ
HRBEERCAILFE -84
E—ERE 2 Az 2w 2185
EAMBRELEESH 2 EF]HH
MREFETEEHRENBERA
ZHZ M ERE BRZHE A
ANMBAEERABOBRFED
E - MAmzEELL A IFE
Pottn - ZEEANARER A
FEBARFRKRENEB DB EHIE
MHERSHFTE R AKEE
Al 4 55 K 2% 2 B I8 B4 Il M A
HE S BMIRAZBETL N
BARASENMBHRRNKEEEKE -



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(9)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments
results in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact
on the Group. Details of the key amendments most

applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. Requires that
only expenditures that result in a recognised asset
in the statement of financial position can be
classified as a cash flow from investing activities.

HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance
on classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases
of land should be classified as either operating
or finance leases in accordance with the general
guidance in HKAS 17.

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases —
Determination of the Length of Lease Term in
respect of Hong Kong Land Leases is revised
as a consequence of the amendment to HKAS
17 Leases included in /mprovements to HKFRSs
2009. Following this amendment, the scope
of HK Interpretation 4 has been expanded to
cover all land leases, including those classified as
finance leases. As a result, this Interpretation is
applicable to all leases of property accounted for
in accordance with HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and HKAS
40.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(9)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (Continued)

HKAS 17 Leases (Continued)

The Group has reassessed its leases in Hong
Kong, previously classified as operating leases,
upon the adoption of the amendments. As
substantially all the risks and rewards associated
with the leases in Hong Kong have been
transferred to the Group, the leases in Hong
Kong have been reclassified from operating
leases under “prepaid land premium” to finance
leases under “property, plant and equipment”.
The corresponding amortisation has also been
reclassified to depreciation. The effects of the

above changes are summarised below:

Eﬁ&%&w SHRZEH
BB RS ERIR 0 ()
BB IR ERE 1R (B A) TEAR
AREBS - SRNITE] RIS T BRI W
ERAZEEHEMT  (4F)

:

) —ZFEFNFEBHFHEERZ

2 (E)
e FAGHEAE1VIVRHE
(&)

REMZSEFTE  AEEE
At T EUREE  BES
BRAREMEZAN -BRE
BERMERBNBAMN
Rk EHREEENEE:
WERENHEEH [N L
HEIZREHESHHNER
W%% WERZE 2BEM
E-HEBHETCEROAR
FrE- i Es s EfEm
T

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Consolidated income statement ~— #Z=HA=+—HIFFZ
for the year ended 31 March ZERE WK
Decrease in amortisation of TEf L & FRIR
prepaid land premium 2 B R (218) (401)
Increase in depreciation of ME - BE &
property, plant and equipment BB EL 218 401
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 2.

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects
of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

EEZERAERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR B A

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZHA=+—H

2 E:’rﬂt%&?& FERZEE
BEEMBREEAER () R E
A BREEAE 1R (EFT4) TEBR
AREES - FRNFTE] RIS T BRI

(Continued) ERANZFEZEBNT: (&)
(g) /mprovements to HKFRSs 2009 (Continued) Q) ZEZFNFEEHBEHREERZ
2 ()
. HKAS 17 Leases (Continued) D BB EUNFEI7TRHEE
(&)
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Consolidated statement of R=HA=+—HZ
financial position at 31 March ARE BRI &
Decrease in prepaid land TEf T HE & FRIR
premium, net R RR (15,326) (21,755)
Decrease in prepayments, ERRIE EE Rk
deposits and E A JE s BR RO
other receivables (218) (305)
Increase in property, plant and I E V=N
equipment, net ZABE N FEEE 15,544 22,060
Consolidated statement of RZFEANFHH—H
financial position A BN IR HK$'000
at 1 April 2009 BT T
Decrease in prepaid land TEfT L E IR
premium, net W R ER (50,031)
Decrease in prepayments, ERRIE - EZE R
deposits and Bl JiE U5 BR RO
other receivables (690)
Increase in property, plant and M- WE R
equipment, net RAEIG IF R 50,721
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 AR B &

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(9)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (Continued)

HKAS 17 Leases (Continued)

Due to the retrospective application of the
amendments which has resulted in the
restatement of items in the statement of financial
position, a statement of financial position as at
1 April 2009, and the related notes affected by
the amendments have been presented in these
financial statements.

HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Clarifies that (i) the
disclosures required in respect of non-current
assets (or a disposal group) classified as held for
sale or a discontinued operation are those set
out in HKFRS 5; (ii) the general requirements
of HKAS 1 still apply (e.g., source of estimation
uncertainty); and (iii) the disclosures in other
HKFRSs are not required unless:

° those HKFRSs specifically require disclosures
in respect of non-current assets (or disposal
groups) classified as held for sale or
discontinued operations; or

° the disclosures relate to the measurement of
assets or liabilities within a disposal group
that are outside the scope of measurement
requirements of HKFRS 5 and disclosures
are not provided elsewhere in the financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects
of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(9) I/mprovements to HKFRSs 2009 (Continued)

o HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.: Clarifies that
segment assets and liabilities need only to be
reported when those assets and liabilities are
included in measures that are used by the chief

operating decision maker.

o HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets: Clarifies that the
largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill
acquired in a business combination is the
operating segment as defined in HKFRS 8 before

aggregation for financial reporting purposes.

. HKAS 38 /ntangible Assets: Clarifies that (i)
if an intangible asset acquired in a business
combination is identifiable only with another
intangible asset, the acquirer may recognise
the group of assets as a single asset provided
that the individual assets have similar useful
lives; and (ii) the valuation techniques presented
in the standard for determining the fair value
of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination that are not traded in active markets
are only examples and are not restrictive on the

methods that can be used.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR B A

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZHA=+—H
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments
which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(Continued)

(h)

HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

The interpretation requires a term loan that contains a
clause that gives the lender the unconditional right to
call the loan at any time shall be classified in total by
the borrower as current in the statement of financial
position. This is irrespective of whether a default event
has occurred and notwithstanding any other terms and

maturity stated in the loan agreement.

Prior to the adoption of this interpretation, the
Group’s term loans were classified in the consolidated
statement of financial position as non-current liabilities
based on the maturity dates of repayment. Upon
the adoption of the interpretation, the term loans
have been reclassified entirely as current liabilities.
The interpretation has been applied by the Group
retrospectively and comparative amounts have been
restated. In addition, as a result of this change and
as required by HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements, these financial statements also include a
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
April 2009. Further details of the loans are disclosed in

note 25 to these financial statements.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR B A

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZHA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 22 BB REEE RS

DISCLOSURES (continued) (#&)

Except for HKFRS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 1 Amendments BREBMEMEERE 1% (LIB85]) KRB

which are not applicable to the Group, the principal effects B BREERE 15 (5] 4) TEAR

of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows: REEIN - FRNFTET REIEFT B BT B

(Continued) LHEAZEBZENT: (&)

(h) HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial (h) ERREBESHEHEHRZNIE—F
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a MANHTE A EFEREERL
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand EHEMH S (&)

Clause (Continued)

The above change has had no effect on the LT EHEEENRRTELE-
consolidated income statement. The effect on the HiEaMBMRAikzEEH MM
consolidated statement of financial position is ™

summarised as follows:

31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
—E2——-F —ZT-FF —ZETNF
=A=+-8B =ZA=+—H MmA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Increase in interest-bearing bank Mf#F 8 2 R17 &%
and other borrowings H i EE &M 64,516 84,193 85,932
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Decrease in interest-bearing bank Hff #5 ] 8 2 877 &
and other borrowings HEMEERD (64,516) (84,193) (85,932)
Change on the net assets HRAEBEEFE
of the Group s - _ _
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZRBERDA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 28 (Revised)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 14

Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
- Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters
Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
- Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters *

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets 3
Financial Instruments °

Consolidated Financial Statements ®

Joint Arrangements *

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities ®°

Fair Value Measurement ®

Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes -
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets *

Related Party Disclosures *

Separate financial Statements °

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures *
Amendments to HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments

of @ Minimum Funding Requirement ?

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

70 Annual Report 2010/11 & 3
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements
to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies
and clarifying wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and
HKAS 27 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011 although there are separate transitional provisions for

each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on

the Group's results of operations and financial position.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR B A

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZHA=+—H
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to

obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated

at cost less any impairment losses.

Upon the disposal of interests in subsidiaries, any gain or
loss arising thereon is included in the income statement and
any amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary should be accounted for on the
same basis as if the related assets or liabilities are directly

disposed of by that subsidiary.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant

influence.
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Associates (Continued)

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of an associate is included
in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in an
associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of an associate is included as part of the
Group’s investment in the associate and is not individually
tested for impairment. Adjustments are made to bring into

line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 April 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net

assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZHA=+—H
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combinations from 1 April 2010 (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded

derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as

at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be

remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in

profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combinations from 1 April 2010 (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups

of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent

period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit

retained.

31 March 2011
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Business combinations prior to 1 April 2010 but after 1
April 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements
which were applied on a prospective basis, the following
differences applied to business combinations prior to 1 April
2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the
purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The
non-controlling interest was measured at the proportionate

share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Any additional acquired share of

interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination
resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would

have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if,
the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow
was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was
determinable. Subsequent adjustments to the contingent

consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

EBREOHREE (&)
ZEERFNA-AUEME=-F-FF
BB — H AT HY ¥ 5 & OF

B EAEEANRERL —T—FF
MA—RZAMNEBEHANTEZR:

EBAHRABEAAK BRBERZEN
RAH) 32 5 PR B UK BB PR AR i) — BE 20 © JEHE
Pt i FE (R RUE T AT B R B B R (B
B L BIET &

DEBRETHEBEMESBILERA
B RGO D (HEE T E Z AT
REEHE -

EARKBEWE -AEGE  RRERET
RIBBET EEHONBMAXITETAY
TEHHE XA HFERS O RKE
FUHAENRAREMBRESRAEE
&1 RUBR S

IARREBEEARERBNABEE RA
BE B BB M 27 B AT REE AR A a0
MR AT SERET R T HERR o SRAR B HE
BRABEIASEHEN -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which it

arises.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill and certain financial
assets is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited

to the income statement in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for

its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific

useful lives and depreciation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms

finance leases
Buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease

terms and 15%

Furniture, fixtures and 15%
equipment

Computer equipment 33'5%

Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the supply
of services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the

reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement

in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement

in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties, the deemed cost of the property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change
in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and

equipment and depreciation” above.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed

to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) and Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited with
indefinite useful lives. They are carried at cost less any

impairment losses.

Other non-current investment

Other non-current investment represents artworks held
as long term investment which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that

other non-current investment is impaired.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable

transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and bank balances,
accounts and other receivables, loans receivable, deposits

and quoted and unquoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in
the near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance

with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent
to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them in
the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
The reclassification from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on

the nature of the assets.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash

flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from

impairment is recognised in the income statement.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated
at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market

conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment valuation
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement in other income, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement and
removed from the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve. Interest and dividends earned are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and
are recognised in the income statement as other income
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue

recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (i) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for those
investments or (ii) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less

any impairment losses.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near
term are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in
the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification
to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial
assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the
Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for
the foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the
held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the entity
has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of

the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss
over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate.
If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income

statement.
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Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; or other valuation

models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that

correlate with defaults.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective

assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flow is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.,
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective

interest rate.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no

realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the

income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of

investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the
income statement, is removed from other comprehensive

income and recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value
has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Annual Report 2010/11 & &

ERMEERE (&)

JRHEEZMRE
RARHESRREMNS  ARENER
THRRIHEEEMNTERERTIRE
SR E AR BRBE

WA HEEELTRME /KA (H
BREM ARSI EH) BERFQFE
ZEE R ZAE RS RER M
MERRE  @REME AT HIE -
W W e R FERR -

RAOBERAIHRBEZRARENS T8
ERUBEREZATFEARERHIEHE
RERA - BEEME [KIE] 2 [KH] &
AERHE - FERES (KB BERF
BREZRAA MAEEE (RBIKE
ZRAFEERERRAZEHE - HFE
MEER  REEE (RWBKAERE
REME 2Bz ZH 8 LR Z A
MU= R ZIBERE R Z ERRER
B E M2 ERAF IR - 0 s
RER - DBERAREEZRATAZR
BEETSEBWRaREBD EAFEE
MERZENEEREEMEEKATR
FER -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (i) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (ii) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but

has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations

that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum

amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group within the scope of HKAS
39 are classified as loans and borrowings. The Group
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial

recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities included account and other
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and

the liability component of convertible notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate method amortisation

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in the income statement.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at
the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially

recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Convertible notes

The component of convertible notes that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the
statement of financial position, net of transaction costs.
On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for an
equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount is carried
as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion
option is not remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible notes based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the

instruments are first recognised.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated
from its liability component. On initial recognition, the
derivative component of the convertible notes is measured
at fair value and presented as part of derivative financial
instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as
the liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned
between the liability and derivative components of the
convertible notes based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and derivative components when the instruments
are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as
part of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative
component is recognised immediately in the income

statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks,

including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)
Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can

be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of

time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded
using the functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
All differences are taken to the income statement. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the

fair value was determined.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor

taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to

the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis

over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms;

income from the sale of equity and debt securities, on

a trade-date basis;

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to

receive payment has been established,;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset;

insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the

associated insurance policy; and

commission and brokerage income from securities

dealings, on a trade-date basis.

Annual Report 2010/11 F %}

24 EEWHBREE )

Wy 25 72 B
EARBRAARESKENS Bl

genl

i B - BRI T RS -

M WAZBOFRZEELLHIE
ERER

HERAREFEF I BAER S
AEEERER:

P B MR A T e BR MR B R TR 2 e N e

MBWANEFEEZBEANE
BMIARFFHIRERHE GBS
B) A RRMGE RS WARBRE
TREERTFEZNEXFBER
I FRETER

R B A8 40 W TA A8 BB 1R B8 AE R B

= -
o

EHREBEZMERERBALERS
HHIE MR



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the

Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group;

the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or

(e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity

that is a related party of the Group.
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Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and other
employees of the Group and of the investee entities and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by any member
of the Group or any investee entity) who render services
and/or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisors of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

In situations where equity instruments are issued and
some or all of the goods or services received by the
Group as consideration cannot be specifically identified,
the unidentifiable goods or services are measured as the
difference between the fair value of the share-based
payment and the fair value of any identifiable goods or

services received at the grant date.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is
taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market

conditions”), if applicable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transaction where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all

other performance on/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employees/

advisors as measured at the date of modification.

24FESE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award,
as described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of

equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.

Employee benefits

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations as further explained in the accounting policy for

“Share-based payment transactions” above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cContinued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme,
except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial

statements:

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the supply of services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or
leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the

supply of services or for administrative purposes.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties are
assessed by management based on the property valuation
performed by independent qualified valuers on an open
market, existing use basis. The assumptions adopted in the
property valuation are based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period, with reference to
comparable sales transactions and where appropriate, on the
basis of capitalisation of the net income after allowances for

outgoings.

Impairment of loans receivable

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the aging of its loans receivable balances, borrowers’
creditworthiness and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its borrowers was to deteriorate
so that the actual impairment loss might be higher than
expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis
of making the allowance and its future results would be

affected.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of accounts receivable

The provision for impairment of accounts receivable of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and the
aging analysis of the receivables and on the judgement
of management. A considerable amount of judgement
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of the customers. Management
reassesses the estimation regularly throughout the reporting

period.

Measurement of unlisted investments at fair value

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market are estimated by management based on
the valuation performed by independent qualified valuers
by using valuation techniques that requires various sources
of information and assumptions. The carrying amount of
the Group’s unlisted investments at fair value through profit
or loss as at 31 March 2011 was HK$51,636,000 (2010:
HK$20,495,000). Further details are given in notes 22 and

39 to these financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Measurement of convertible notes

For convertible notes bifurcated into liability and equity
components in accordance with HKAS 32 Ffinancial
Instruments: Presentation, the fair value of the liability
component on issuance of the convertible note is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible note; and this amount is carried as a liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the equity conversion option that is recognised and
included in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
net of transaction costs. The determination of the liability
component requires an estimation of the market interest

rate.

For convertible notes bifurcated into liability and derivative
components, the estimation of fair values of the derivative
components requires the Group to use its judgement
to select an appropriate valuation method and makes
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the issue date and the end of the reporting
period. The valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the stock price, expected volatility
and risk-free rate. Changes in subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate. For the year
ended 31 March 2011, the fair value gain on the derivative
components of convertible notes was approximately
HK$32,470,000 (2010: HK$16,030,000).
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised
tax losses at 31 March 2011 was HK$1,149,849,000 (2010:
HK$1,299,451,000). Further details are contained in note 27

to these financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into

business units based on their products and services and has

six reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)

the trading of securities segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and the holding of
investments primarily for interest income, dividend

income and capital appreciation;

the provision of finance segment engages in the

provision of financing services in Hong Kong;

the property holding and investment segment engages
primarily in the investments in commercial and
residential properties for their rental income potential

and/or their appreciation in values;

the insurance brokerage business segment engages
in general and life insurance brokerage business and
the provision of related investment linked financial

products in Hong Kong;
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(e) securities brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin

financing in Hong Kong; and

(f)  the investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long term
purposes, primarily for their dividend income and

capital appreciation.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax from continuing operations except that interest income,
finance costs, fair value gain from the Group’s derivative
components of convertible notes as well as head office and

corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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Year ended 31 March 2011

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment sales

Total revenue

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Bank interest income

Other interest income

Corporate and other unallocated
expenses

Fair value gain on derivative
components of convertible notes

Finance costs

Loss before tax

2K
NEPZHEE

PERHE

B
HENEREE

e

28R

Bk

BITFHBYA
EfFBUA
RAREMADEAR

TAREEL £ TABH
2 AT
BERE

KA BE

Trading of

securities

E5RE
HK$'000
BRI

(62,498)

(62,498)

(152,178)

Provision

of finance

RERE
HK$'000
ART R

41,642

41,642

19,024

31 March 2011
—EF——fF=ZHA=+—H

BE-E——%=A=+—HLEE

Property
holding
and

investment

VR

kR&
HK$'000
BRETR

1,467
1,242

8,709

8,444

Insurance

brokerage Investment

business

B
RER%
HK$'000
BRI

2,021

2,021

(6,229)

holding

REER
HK$'000
BT

22,084

22,084

(34,044)

Securities
brokerage,
placing,
underwriting
and margin
financing
FHEL
RE B8
kFREE
HK$'000
BETT

100,998
1,156

102,154

17,246

Total

&t
HK$'000
ARFR

89,630
24,482

114,112

(24,482)

89,630

(147,737)

39
487

(10,772)

32,470
(43,298)

(168,811)
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Year ended 31 March 2011/As at 31 March 2011

Trading of ~ Provision
securities  of finance
R5EE RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETn
Other segment information: HitHRER:
Share of profit of an associate PE—REE DR R = =
Impairment of accounts receivable &M B ZA E = =
Loss on redemption of convertible ~ EEIFERZ
notes a5t = =
Depreciation e
- operating segment -BES R = =
- unallocated vl
Investment in an associate R-FEE AR RE - -
Capital expenditure BRFX
- operating segment -FEL 8 - -
- unallocated v
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant

and equipment, investment properties and available-for-sale

investment.
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Property
holding
and

investment

NERE

kRE
HKS$'000
BETR

51

1,574

Insurance
brokerage

business

RE
HK$'000
BETT

73

157

Investment

holding

REZR
HK$'000
BETR

6,342

22

779,489

502,548

Securities
brokerage,
placing,
underwriting
and margin
financing
BE -G
kARRE
HK$'000
BRI

10,456

19,108

5,49

4,185

Total

st
HK$'000
B TR

6,342
10,456

19,108

6,100
2,144

8,244

779,489

508,464
4,331

512,795*

EAFMXBRAEYE BENEKREN

REEMERAEHERE -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESWEH &)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2010 HE-T—ZTF=A=+—RHILFE
Securities
brokerage,
Property placing,
holding  Insurance underwriting
Trading of Provision and  brokerage Investment and margin
securities  of finance  investment business holding  financing Total
BA
NERE ke RE 23

BHEE  REBE  REE  EEXE  RARR RARAR At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARTT  BBTR  ERTR  ARTR  EBTn  ERTn A%TR

Segment revenue: RN
Sales to external customers MBEPZHEE 79,928 23,925 3,997 1,980 - 59,740 169,570
Intersegment sales PEREE - - 2,669 - 31,069 3,005 36,743
79,928 23,925 6,666 1,980 31,069 62,745 206,313

Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales ~ #{#AEREE (36,743)
Total revenue Bl 169,570
Segment results ik EL 163,901 20,409 17,897 (7,665 119,693 (14,188) 300,047
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income RITFIBIA 34
Other interest income HipF 8 WA 6,732
Corporate and other unallocated A& R E A EER

expenses (246)
Fair value gain on derivative RRERZTETAHS

components of convertible notes 2 AT EME 16,030
Finance costs BARA (14,550)
Profit before tax B 750 31 i ) 308,047
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2010

HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—RHILFE

Securities
brokerage,
Property placing,
holding  Insurance underwriting
Trading of Provision and  brokerage Investment and margin
securities  of finance  investment business holding  financing Total
EAELR
NEEE ik RE 2
EFEE  RERE RRE  BRRE  REBR RARRE ast
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT ARt BT A%Tr A%t BETR A% T
Other segment information: HtAEER:
Impairment of accounts receivable  JEURERFUEI(E - - - - - 7,108 7,108
Reversal of impairment of loans EREHRERDFE
receivable, net - (3,098) - - - - (3,098)
Loss on redemption of convertible BRI AREE 2 KB
notes - - - - 51,247 - 51,247
Depreciation ik
- operating segment —BENE - - 792 68 132 3,919 4,911
- unallocated ~XPR 1,856
676
Capital expenditure ERRX
- operating segment -BEH R - - 5,569 - 104,839 19,587 129,995
- unallocated v 52
0T
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BABZBEIEDE BEESEE-

and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and

other non-current investment which include assets from the

acquisition of subsidiaries.

116 Annual Report 2010/11 F &

BREWME BREEREMIERDRE
(BRKENBARMBZEE)



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information

(@) The Group's revenue is derived from its external

customers in Hong Kong.

(b) Non-current assets

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EhXERERAF

Notes to Financial Statements
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(b) FRBEE

31 March 31 March 1 April

2011 2010 2009

—g——-% -T-TF -TThHF

=A=+—-8 =ZA=+—H MmA—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT

(Restated) (Restated)

(&eE7) (&%)

Hong Kong 954,251 306,468 188,440
Mainland China - - 770
Singapore - 27,666 -
954,251 334,134 189,210

The non-current asset information above is based

on the location of assets and excludes financial

instruments.

Information about a major customer

No customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s

total revenue for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

ERIFRBEEBEHNEEMEH
REKE ERPATEBEEBMTA

FBXEEFZEHN
BE_T——FR-_F-ZFTF-_F=1—
BILFE WERPIEAEEBKEI0%
A Ee
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
BEEZRARAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. R -Httilt A Rlix&

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents W (AR EEZ EXER)EFRNRRE
interest income earned from provision of finance; dividend Eﬁlﬁﬁﬁ/a A2 HSZ)\ TRARE 2R B
income from equity investments; gains/(losses) from the sale THEBBBERAATEIERCREZ
of investments at fair value through profit or loss; gross E/(Eﬁiﬂ) 'EHK&TEHQ&QW%Z
rental income received and receivable from investment BESWA RELELEAEFLFEER
properties; insurance brokerage income; commission and & RIS &ﬁ%&@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ‘%ﬁ@ﬁ/\&
brokerage income from securities dealings; commission from FEBERS 2 FEHA -

underwriting and placing services; and interest income on

margin financing activities during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: Was s Et AR Kz oo
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E2——F —ZT-ZTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BET T BT T
Revenue W =
Interest income from provision of REREFAEAN S WA
finance 41,642 23,925
Dividend income from investments FREEUAAFEINEY
at fair value through profit or loss ’EZ B A 6,230 23,101
Gains/(losses) from the sale of HEFBEIZADNFETE
investments at fair value through Z’REZ W (FE)
profit or loss, net i) (68,728) 56,827
Gross rental income @A WA 7,467 3,997
Insurance brokerage income R A2 WA 2,021 1,980
Commission and brokerage income BHEBEMS RELEA
from securities dealings 28,851 30,451
Commission from underwriting and ~ B#EEEREE L
placing services 43,900 16,550
Interest income on margin financing ~ FEBE R Z F B A
activities 28,247 12,739
89,630 169,570
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5.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. i@ Httlt AR R (&)
(Continued)
Group
rEE
2011 2010
2% —T-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=g BETT BT T
Other income and gains PN e
Bank interest income RATH B WA 39 34
Other interest income E A S WA 487 6,732
Fair value gain on derivative AMRERZOTETAED
components of convertible notes 2 A ERE 26 32,470 16,030
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB QR 2= 32(b) - 2,500
Gain on deemed disposal of interests R {EHEH B QR ER 2
in subsidiaries Wz 32(a) 6,756 -
Net gain from additional shares Bt N RIBEATEEONR 9 P 1S
issued by an associate 2 %H&E 16 18,821 -
Reversal of a loan receivable U [B] 5 Ail Hif 85 2 FE Y & K
previously written off 100,008 -
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 K
properties - 647
Gain on disposal of items of property, HE®E - HE K
plant and equipment JEIEE 2= 39 -
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE R ERRR R 2,068 -
Others HAf 7,259 1,390
167,947 27,333
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after AEBBRBARN, (BE)EHNR/
charging/(crediting): (Bt A) -
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Depreciation e 13 8,244 6,767
Employee benefit expenses (excluding 1B 8@EF B (T B
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): EEW= (MIsE8) ) :
Wages, salaries and allowances TE&- 5o kFEM 21,906 18,563
Equity-settled share R AR 2 Bk
option expense 2 29 1,051 -
Retirement benefit scheme RUKAEF qugﬂ £
contributions (defined (ERHERETE) *
contribution schemes)* 1,169 1,007
24,126 19,570
Auditors’ remuneration Z BRI 2 3,440 3,220
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R FE% (2,068) 189
Minimum lease payments under BIFGEERO® LR
operating leases in respect of BFI Nz &EHRERIE
land and buildings 15,904 8,810
Direct operating expenses arising R 2 2 REVRMEE
on rental-earning investment LEELBRX
properties 2,036 2,125
Rental income on investment KEYWEZHSWAREE
properties less direct operating LB S B #2,036,0007T
expenses of HK$2,036,000 —E-TF:
(2010: HK$2,125,000) 7B #2,125,0007T) (5,431) (1,872)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off HE MEDE BER
of items of property, plant and BBEEZERS
equipment (Yezs) (39) 84
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEHE AR ZEE,
(Ma) 32(b) 1,680%* (2,500)
Loss on deemed disposals of RIEHE—EHE T2
an associate* * =R 16 50,697 -
Loss on disposal of an HERHEERE CEE**
available-for-sale investment** - 1,940
Loss on redemption of convertible BRI RE 7 BB
notes** 19,108 51,247
Impairment of an available-for-sale Al HERE 2 RE**
investment** 17 76,813 -
Reversal of impairment of loans FEREFUR BB CFRE**
receivable, net** 19 - (3,098)
Impairment of accounts receivable** & U B FUR & * * 20 10,456 7,108
* At 31 March 2011, the Group had no material forfeited * F;J**Efﬂ =+—A XrxEEY
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BB ORI U D ERREF 2
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2010: Nil). RRAEF qu?IH,\M (ZE—ZTF |) o
**  These balances are included in “Other expenses, net” in the o ZEERTIFIARERERP 2 [HA
consolidated income statement. P FRE] A
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7.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAA

Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR Y A

31 March 2011
—EF——fF=ZHA=+—H

FINANCE COSTS 7. MMERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKESTAT :
Group
KEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and ZBRAFRSHIZERBEEERE 2
other loans wholly repayable RITEF BXREMERZFE
within five years or on demand 18,251 5,657
Convertible notes (note 26) AT R (M3E26) 25,047 8,893
Total finance costs b E R AN 4B R 43,298 14,550

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as
follows:

8. EEM=
THAREELHARSMERARE
% EWRE([EWHRA) REBRAG
PIE161REBEZFNEEHS -

Group
KEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fees e 815 600
Other emoluments: B -
Salaries and other benefits e kEMER 4,483 3,780
Retirement benefit scheme RAKAE FET B 3R
contributions (defined (ERMEFHETE)
contribution scheme) 115 72
4,598 3,852
5,413 4,452
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EFM& &
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAIKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FABNBIFNTES 2B
during the year were as follows: Ik
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Gary Drew Douglas?t 4 120 120
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Peter Temple Whitelam%t 4 120 120
Dr. Agustin V. Que* Agustin V. Quel# 4= * 67 -
Mr. Yau Chung Hong* M A 42 -
Mr. Roger Thomas Best** Roger Thomas Best4t 4 ** 144 -
Mr. Chiu Siu Po*** (= e 57 120
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley*** TG A 57 120
607 480
There were no other emoluments payable to the F A I A FE B S IE AT E S 2 H th B
independent non-executive directors during the year S (ZE—ZF 8)-
(2010: Nil).
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31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEERIHTES
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions remuneration

HFER EBRERN
e Hi &R TR WEBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BETR BT BETRT

2011 —T——fF
Executive directors: BiTEE:
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, BRMEL
Andrew 120 - - 120
Mr. Lo Kan Sun EFEHEE - 885 44 929
Ms. Kwok Wai Ming*** FBEEA AL *xx - 750 5 755
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R £ - 630 32 662
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips Scott Allen Phillips
LA - 780 - 780
Mr. Suen Yick Lun, Philip** 7Rk B 5 A * - 524 26 550
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei*  #F R ot 4 * - 840 7 847
Ms. Chow Mun Yee* BHST /A = 74 1 75
120 4,483 115 4,718
Non-executive directors: FEHRTES:
Mr. Andrew Liu* B fmEE* 40 - - 40
Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, AR S A
Brian* 24 - - 24
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winton* Be@iEx 24 - - 24
88 - - 88
208 4,483 115 4,806
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZRBERDA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

8. EEM& »)

g

(b) BTEERIFVUTES (#)

(Continued)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits  contributions  remuneration
ek RIREF
we H A 18 7 BEETA [ arE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT BT BT
2010 —F-2F
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, BREEL
Andrew 120 - - 120
Mr. Lo Kan Sun ERE L - 780 39 819
Ms. Kwok Wai Ming BEARL - 1,800 12 1,812
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue gLt - 410 20 430
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips Scott Allen Phillips
TE - 780 - 780
120 3,770 71 3,961
Non-executive director: FEHITES:
Mr. Kwong Wai Tim, B HEIR S Y
William?# - 10 1 11
120 3,780 72 3,972

* Appointed during the year ended 31 March 2011

**  Appointed and resigned during the year ended 31

March 2011

**%  Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2011

# Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2010

There was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31
March 2011 were also directors of the Company, details of

whose remuneration are disclosed in note 8 above.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the five highest paid
employees included three of the Company's directors, details
of whose remuneration are also set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining two non-

director, highest paid employees for that year are as follows:

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZERBRLQF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

AfuEEHER

BE-2— —#ZA=+—BLFERN
AUBEHRENALATNES REZ
B <6 5B R £SO o

HE_T-ZTF-A=+—HLFE &
NEEHFEERE-NANAES KF
Z M & FHIBIREN EXHIEES < 2 F E R
M FEERSFHEEZMEFBENT

Group
rEH
2010
—E-2F
HK$'000
BT

#ra MOERA
RARAEFET B R

Salaries and allowances
Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the remuneration
of the two non-director, highest paid employees fell below
HK$1,000,000.

1,372

37

1,409

HE - Z—ZEF=F=1+—BHIFE &
NIEBEEERFEEZMSHBENE
75 #1,000,0007C A T ©
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

Notes to Financial Statements

B #5 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EFE——F=ZHA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits

arising in Hong Kong during the year.

10. iR RAX

BRMBHRIEHRE165% (ZF—F
F:16.5% ) MFARBBELZEFE
R0 B FT R A -

2011 2010
—E——-fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Group: RER:

Current — Hong Kong REATRIE —BH
Charge for the year REEZH 4,091 46
Deferred (note 27) EEFLIA (Fi5E27) (1,404) 4,141
Total tax charge for the year FAFIEZ N BE 2,687 4,187

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (the
statutory tax rate of the principal place of business of the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries) to the tax

charge at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows:
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B R R AR Y A

31 March 2011

—E——F=fH=+—H

10. FRr S MBAST (=)

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BBLEDER, (F5E) (168,811) 308,047
Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong & B EEME16.5%EZ
statutory tax rate of 16.5% BMEXH(ER) (27,854) 50,828
Income not subject to tax HARBZ WA (24,674) (30,544)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR IR 38,850 8,047
Temporary differences not recognised MR 2 B =58 325 667
Tax losses utilised from previous periods &)@ #i R~ B 75 B 18 (10,942) (32,565)
Tax losses not recognised AERZ BB EE 26,982 8,105
Others Hh = (351)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax RAEBEZ BEFHZE1.6%
rate of (1.6)% (2010: 1.4%) (ZE—TF:14%):tE8
Z A 2,687 4,187

The share of tax attributable to an associate amounting to
HK$100,000 (2010: Nil) is included in ""Share of profit of an

associate” in the consolidated income statement.

FE (R N B 2 BRI #100,0000T (=

(DR ERADEN] —I8-

REWmEEA
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the
Company for the year includes a profit of HK$30,778,000
(2010: loss of HK$9,205,000) which has been dealt with in

12.

the financial statements of the Company (note 30(b)).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the loss for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$189,530,000 (2010: profit of HK$297,486,000),
and the weighted average number of 1,814,214,634
(2010: 242,100,000) ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per
share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2011 in respect of a dilution as the convertible notes
outstanding during the year had an anti-dilutive effect

on the basic loss per share amount.

No adjustment was made to the basic earnings per
share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2010 in respect of a dilution as the convertible notes
outstanding during that year had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic earnings per share and the exercise price
of the share options of the Company outstanding
during that year was higher than the average
market price of the Company’s ordinary shares and,
accordingly, they had no dilutive effect on the basic

earnings per share amount presented.
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€ E5 1875 %189,530,000T (= &
—ZF & 78 #6297,486,0007T )
REANDETEBRZ NEFE
#1,814,214,634 (Z T — = F:
242,100,0008% ) 5+ & -

SREERR (BHE)
HREE—T——F=A=+—~H
EFEZ2RITEARREERES SR
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land and  Leasehold
buildings improvements

Group
Leasehold
RELH
RETF
HK$'000
BYTR
31 March 2011 “Z——%=A=+-H
At31March 2010 and at 1 Aprl  R=E—-FF=ZFA=1—H
2010: EZZ-ZEENA-R:
Cost (restated) AR (B E5) 75,802
Accumulated depreciation RTHE (LEF)
(restated) (2,971)
Net carrying amount (restated) ~ BREE(E (£ E7) 72,831
At 1 April 2010, net of accumulated R =ZE—ZFMA—{
depreciation (restated) MR 2E (LE5) 72,831
Additions nE =
Deemed disposal of interests in -~ R{EHENB AR ER
subsidiaries (note 32(a)) (PH3¥32(2)) (26,864)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32(b)) 1% i /& 2 & (FiFE32(b)) (11,984)
Disposals/write-off e/ -
Transfer to investment properties ~ EEZEFENE (Mi14) *
(note 14)* (9,473)
Depreciation provided during the ~ FRZHERE
year (1,239)
At 31 March 2011, net of RZZ——5ZA=1-R"
accumulated depreciation NBZIE 23,271
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—-R:
Cost s 27,481
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (4,210)
Net carrying amount RHFE 23,271

During the current year, due to a change in use, owner-
occupied properties of the Group with the then net carrying
amounts of HK$9,473,000 were transferred to investment
properties at their fair value at the date of transfer of
HK$15,554,000 (note 14), which became the deemed cost of
the investment properties for subsequent accounting at the
date of change in use.

RE
B
HK$'000
ARTR

8,406

(3,263)

5143

5143
324

(1,261)

4,206

8,730

(4,524)

4,206

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

rE
Furniture,
fixturesand ~ Computer Motor

equipment  equipment vehicles Total

B -%E
REfE  EERE "E BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  BE%Tn BT B%T:n

21,485 1,330 466 107,489
(5,129) (1,206) (57) (12,626)
16,356 124 409 94,863
16,356 124 409 94,863
8,445 363 = 9,132
(13,117) - - (39,981)
- - - (11,984)
- - (405) (405)
= = = (9,473)
(5,595) (145) (@) (8,244)
6,089 342 = 33,908
15,018 1,693 = 52,922
(8,929) (1,351) = (19,014)
6,089 342 = 33,908

* RAFE AEEXITERAYVECZER
SREB159,473,0007T EEW%%FHL“
) EEREME ERNERAHZA
B A 115,554,0007C (H3E14) - ﬁAﬁﬁ
BEHAKAERSHEERREME
ZARVER AR -
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEEZERERDH

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. 9% BERERM 2

(Continued)
Group REEH
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold  fixturesand ~ Computer Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
RELH HE KRB
kEF  DEERE K& BB RE 28
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A&t BETr  A%TR  BETr A%TR BETx
(Restated) (Restated)
(g&31) (g=31)
31 March 2010 “B-B¥ZAZ1-H
At 1 April 2009: RZZENFNA—A:
Cost KA 72,149 8,406 4,202 1,252 - 86,009
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (1,821) (2,001) (1,401) (1,076) - (6,299)
Net carrying amount RHFE 70,328 6,405 2,801 176 - 79,710
At 1 April 2009, net of RZFENENA-B"
accumulated depreciation NBEFNE 70,328 6,405 2,801 176 - 79,710
Additions NE - - 1,017 78 - 1,095
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) WM BAR (FizE31) 28,548 - 16,355 - 466 45,369
Disposals/write-off & /M - - (85) - - (85)
Transfer from investment properties 8 % &M% (FiF14)
(note 14) 12,100 - - - - 12,100
Transfer to investment properties ~ BREZRENE (H14)
(note 14) (36,386) - - - - (36,386)
Depreciation provided during the ~ FRZHEEE
year (1,586) (1,262) (3,732) (130) (57) (6,767)
Exchange realignment AR (173) - - - - (173)
At 31 March 2010, net of W-E-E5=A=+-H"
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 72,831 5,143 16,356 124 409 94,363
At 31 March 2010: RZF-ZE-A=1—-H:
Cost A 75,802 8,406 21,485 1,330 466 107,489
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (2,971) (3,263) (5,129) (1,206) (57) (12,626)
Net carrying amount FRFE 72,831 5,143 16,356 124 409 94,863
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
The Group's leasehold land included in property, plant and

equipment with a net carrying amount of HK$15,544,000
(2010: HK$22,060,000) are situated in Hong Kong and are

held under long term leases.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$23,271,000 (2010: HK$60,847,000
(restated)) were pledged to secure general banking facilities

granted to the Group (note 25).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZERBRLQF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

13. MR -BER®RM 2

AEBEZHELHERERDE BEX
FE AN 2 BREFE /B 115,544,0007T
(=ZZ—Z 4 : %22,060,0007T) * J5A
BENRBAANES -

RBEHRR AEBCHELMREF 2
REVFEAE%23,271,0000 (ZE—F
F 7% %60,847,00070 (K& &) )EE
RAEERER —RRITRE 2R (M
25) °
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARAA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. MR -BWEREME 2
(Continued)
The Group's leasehold land and buildings, held under long REBZHELHREFERERAME -
term leases, were included in property, plant and equipment BEREER UERHBANBEL UER
at their net carrying amounts and are situated in the FEFER - DR TS e A

following jurisdictions:

Group
rEH
2011 2010
. —TFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong &5 23,271 45,165
Singapore N - 27,666
23,271 72,831
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BB ME
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-ZF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=g BETT BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year RF ¥z REE 160,780 109,500
Additions NE 1,121 5,092
Disposals & = (6,000)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE QA 32(b) (42,010) (770)
Transfer to owner-occupied property EEEETARAME 13 - (12,100)
Transfer from owner-occupied EEREETaAmE
properties* 13 15,554 36,386
Gains arising from changes in fair value &Y% N F(EE
of investment properties, net Z W EE 5,409 28,672
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZE®E 140,854 160,780
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* During the year, certain owner-occupied properties of the
Group included in property, plant and equipment with a net
carrying amount of HK$9,473,000 (note 13) were transferred
to investment properties and were revalued at the date of
change in use at HK$15,554,000 on an open market value,
existing use basis. The resulting surplus of HK$6,081,000 was
recognised in the “Land and building revaluation reserve” in

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s investment properties
situated in Hong Kong of HK$140,854,000 (2010:
HK$160,780,000) were held under long term leases.

The Group's investment properties were revalued on
31 March 2011 based on valuation performed by Asset
Appraisal Limited (“AAL"), independent professionally
qualified valuers, at HK$140,854,000 on an open market,
existing use basis. The investment properties are currently or
expected to be leased to third parties under operating leases,
further summary details of which are included in note 35(a)

to these financial statements.

At 31 March 2011, the Group's investment properties
situated in Hong Kong with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$140,854,000 (2010: HK$118,770,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to

the Group (note 25).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are

included on page 216.

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

* RAEE AEECETETORDE
BERDE BEREHNZREFE
A7 19,473,0007T (MIFE13) B8 A
BYE UTHRRAEREHERRRERAR
AR EEES R FB15,554,000
JC B i E & B 8 75 #6,081,0000T 0 B
REFEEZEHRA T HRIEFER
] wR-

W_T——F=ZA=+—8 A&£EE
#140,854,000. (Z T —TF : B
160,780,0007T) i M BB 2 I EMETY
NREAEAOFE -

REBUEXSERGLEMEENER
MARAR ([(BEME]R=_T——F
A=+ BERAEARUARHATEE
HEETME AEECREMESHR
75 #140,854,0007C - % F IR E W E BRI
STEHRBEEEOERTE=S - Hit
FHESEER N AR RRMFE35@)

RZZ——F=ZA=+—H &%
BrEAREDE(RELEAD
& #140,854,000L (=2 — 2 F:
118,770,0007T) E {EAREHE R — K
RITRVE 2 AR (BIzE25) -

AEBEREMEZHMBFBHNE216
Ho
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Unlisted shares, at cost

& LT B 88 1 ) IR

Due from subsidiaries

Provision for impairment EEE

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the interests
in subsidiaries above are unsecured, bear interest at 2.5%
per annum (2010: 2.5% per annum) and are not repayable

within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

Except for an amount due from a subsidiary of
HK$657,691,000, net of impairment of HK$109,361,000
(2010: HK$259,964,000, net of impairment of
HK$109,361,000) which bears interest at 2.5% per annum
(2010: 2.5% per annum), the remaining balances with
subsidiaries included in the Company’s current assets
and liabilities of HK$1,799,014,000, net of impairment
of HK$972,712,000 (2010: HK$821,640,000, net of
impairment of HK$972,712,000) and HK$13,383,000 (2010:
HK$2,372,000), respectively, are interest-free, and all these
balances are unsecured and are repayable on demand or

within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
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Company
ARAH

2011 2010
—¥--% —T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
10,000 10,000
79,579 74,492
89,579 84,492
(16,632) (16,632)
72,947 67,860

FEA LSRG B B 1 ) M 2 2 FE P B
REFHEBEEM  RFEHNXR25E (=F
—EFFME25E) B L HANR
THRET _EARNEER-

BRIZFMNE25B(ZT—ZF:F7
E2S5E)FHEZCEKR —FEKERR
A B #657,691,0007T (KR E
7 #109,361,0000T) (ZE—F 4
75 #259,964,0007T (1K L E B &
109,361,0007T) )& - 5 AR 2 AR
DEERBBZESMBARGEHR S
Bl &7 #1,799,014,0007T (1B R E
& #972,712,0000L) (ZE—FF:
75 #821,640,0007T (1B AL (B 8 1
972,712,0007T) ) ] % #13,383,0007T
(ZZ=— T :5¥2,372,00000) " % 5F
RIERRL  EERRARERNERS
AR+ -_EARNEE-



15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of amounts due

from subsidiaries are as follows:

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

15. BB A R#ER 2

e B AR FIERERE 2 EEHMT

Company
AAH

2011 2010

—_E——fF —E—FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

At beginning of year F 1) 1,098,705 1,107,759
Amount written off as uncollectible WEEET AT B 2 £ %8 - (9,054)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,098,705 1,098,705
Less: Current portion B AL (1,082,073) (1,082,073)
Non-current portion JEmENEB 16,632 16,632

An impairment was recognised for certain amounts due
from subsidiaries with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$2,729,396,000 (2010: HK$2,079,136,000) (before
deducting the impairment loss) because the recoverable
amounts of these balances were lower than their carrying
amounts. The provision for impairment was made based
on an assessment of the recoverable amounts for the
corresponding cash-generating units, which requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units.
The remaining amounts due from subsidiaries are neither
past due nor impaired and the directors of the Company are

of the opinion that these balances are fully recoverable.

The carrying amounts of these amounts due from/to

subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.

ARARAEREEHRBREABE
2,729,396,000L (ZE -2 F : K
2,079,136,0007T) (RINBRMEEE) 2
BT R E A R R IBERRE B RZ
SRHHBZATRESERNEEDE - RE
BEDREBEYEREEEM 2K
BlefE T bmEL  ARATEEERS
EX B2 EREEEL AR - FIghEK
M A EIRIBH ARG B RRE  ANAF
EERAZSEBTRE KD -

Annual Report 2010/11 & #k

135



FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

15. BB A R#ER 2

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBARZHBOT:
Nominal value Percentage
Place of of issued of equity
incorporation ordinary attributable to Principal
Name and operations share capital the Company activities
ERITEE EAREL
=L AR A S R i B RAHEE EZBIL TEXH
Direct Indirect
E# F:3
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 - 100  Investment
Hong Kong holding
THERAT BERUES /BB B REER
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Provision of
management
services
RIBBER QA e 2T REEBRH
Easy Step Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Property
investment
REARAR BB BT MERE
Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$10,000,000 100 - Investment
Corporation (Formerly Hong Kong holding
known as Freeman
Financial Corporation)
Freeman Financial Investment HeHs /&% #%10,000,0007C RERRK
Corporation ( FI#&Freeman
Financial Corporation )
Freeman Financial Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Provision of
Limited insurance
services
LI ERBRAT BB 7 110,0007T RERR
PR 7
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15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

15. BELMEAREE &)

TEMBRARZFHBNT: (&)

(Continued)
Nominal value Percentage
Place of of issued of equity
incorporation ordinary attributable to Principal
Name and operations share capital the Company activities
ERTEE EAREL
=L aE A 3L R i B RAHEE BEEDL TEXK
Direct Indirect
& F:3
Freeman Financial Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100  Investment
Services Limited holding
CERRBERRAT 5 76%10,000,0007C RERER
Freeman Insurance Services Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100  Provision of
Limited insurance
brokerage
services
RERBREREBRAR 5 ##100,0007C RERR
1R 40 PR 7%
Freeman Investment Services Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Investment
Limited holding
Freeman Investment Services Bk 75 #10,0007T RERER
Limited
Freeman United Investments Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Investment
Limited holding
Freeman United Investments B BT RERRK
Limited
Good Develop Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Property
investment
THRERRDA BB BT MERE
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

15. BELMEAREE &)

TEMBRARZFHBNT: (&)

(Continued)
Nominal value Percentage
Place of of issued of equity
incorporation ordinary attributable to Principal
Name and operations share capital the Company activities
ERITEE D E L
=L SR AR L R SR i B RAHE EEEDL TEXRH
Direct Indirect
B#E e
Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Provision of
finance
BRMBAERAF BB 27T REME
Sharp Light International Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Property
investment
FRERARAA BB AT MERE
Smart Jump Corporation British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100  Trading in
Hong Kong securities
Smart Jump Corporation RERUES /BB E EREE
Supreme Host Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Provision of
Holdings Limited management
services
BREERRAR BB BT REEERH
Swiss Nice Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Provision of
management
services
WBRERRDA BB BT REEERS
Swiss Ocean Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Property
investment
EAERAA BB BT MERE
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during the year ended 31 March 2011 are as follows:

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries being disposed of

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011

—F——F=fH=+—H

15. BB A R#ER 2

REBEE_E——F=A=+T—HLFE

W EHEFEMBARZHBNT:

Nominal value

Percentage
of equity
attributable to

Place of of issued the Company
incorporation ordinary at the date Principal
Name and operations share capital of disposal activities
ERTEE RHEBRHERQTF
=L A M A 3L R S B RAEE EEESEEIL TEXH
Direct Indirect
BEE e &
Hennabun Capital Group Limited  British Virgin Islands/ US$209,329,666 - 51.93* Investment
("Hennabun”)* Hong Kong holding
Hennabun Capital Group Limited EBELZHE &F 209,329,666 7T RERER
Chung Nam Finance Company Hong Kong HK$600,000,000 - 51.93*  Provision of
Limited? finance
FR A B ER DA BB ##:600,000,0007C RERE
Chung Nam Securities Company ~ Hong Kong HK$550,000,000 - 51.93*  Securities
Limited* brokerage
and direct
investment
HEE R ER AR BE 78 #550,000,0007C E IR
FEERE
Radland International Limited* Hong Kong HK$48,400,000 - 51.93* Securities
brokerage
and direct
investment
SIBRERR AR BB 7 #48,400,0007T SRR R TG
FEERE
Sun Chung Nam Finance Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 51.93*  Provision of
finance
HEMBAERAR! BB 7 %1,000,0007C RERE
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries being disposed
of during the year ended 31 March 2011 are as follows:
(Continued)

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

* In October 2010, Hennabun entered into a share repurchase
agreement with an independent third party to repurchase
800,000 ordinary shares of Hennabun at a consideration
of HK$4,000,000. Accordingly, the Group's interests in
Hennabun and its subsidiaries (the “Hennabun Group”)
increased from 51.63% to 51.93%. No significant financial
impact on the Group was resulted from this deemed

acquisition of additional interests in the Hennabun Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

15. BEMBARER &)

RBE-_Z——F=A=+—RHILFE
W EHETEMNBARZFBNT:
(%)

# KRR K BBREFMEM L KBRS
NGIES X

* RZZE—ZF 1+ A Hennabunfi—%
B E=HET RGO EE R - R
7 #4,000,0007T 2 X {8 & 21800,000
fEHennabun @M% A it 7~ &£ B R
Hennabun & E H{ & A 7] ([Hennabunfe
E )2 a5 H51.63%EMES1.93% °
RIEREIS B Hennabun e B 2 885 ME R
HAEE W EE KRB E-

EERRLERFIZARFIMERR R
BAKBEZAFEXERIBZZENE
RAREEEFETIEAXE D 2B
NE-EEZRL WEREMKERE 2
BFEREEUREEN LR

length.
16. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 16. RBiBATFIZHRE

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T HME T T
Share of net assets fE(REESE 779,489 -
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Particulars of the principal associate at the end of the

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

R|ERR TBBE QA ZFROT:

reporting period are as follows:

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Particulars of  Place of attributable  Principal
Name issued shares held  incorporation to the Group  activities
RHECOERT AEBEEHEA
£ RozHE SEMRIEH BRESH FEER
Hennabun* Ordinary share of  British Virgin Islands 31.92  Investment holding of subsidiaries

US$0.1 each

FREEIET
L@ R

RBRAHS

Hennabun*

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The above table lists the associate of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year and formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group.

The above investment in an associate is indirectly held by the
Company. The associate has been accounted for using the

equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

As further explained in note 32(a) to these financial
statements, the Group's interest in Hennabun was diluted
from 51.93% to 41.71% upon the completion of the
issuance of 33,333,333 new shares of Hennabun in
December 2010 to an independent third party. The Group
lost its control over Hennabun as a result of the dilution of
interest in Hennabun and Hennabun became an associate of

the Group thereafter.

which are principally engaged in
the provision of financial services
(including security brokerage, money
lending, margin financing and direct
investment)
FEREZEBRRECRRY (B
BAEE EFER FRRER
ERERE)ZMBLRAIZ REER

* RABL K BBREME ML KBERKE
GRS

EERBLERFINZAKEBERER
BAKEZAFEXREAIEZEXRE
RARBEEEFEIZAXET D 2B E

D

LR B E R R Z R E BAR AR ERE
B ZBERREAGAV B HRRAER

AR ISR &R M 5E32(a) AT — H il - R
—ZT-TF+ = A E1733,333,333
fEHennabun# T e fn T — R BLE =54
&+ REE R HennabunZ & H51.93%
BSEE41.71% © R FE{E Hennabun 2 #
A HE - KRR E K K ¥ Hennabunz 1
4 - Hennabun & Bk & AN & B 2 B &
Al
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

In addition, Hennabun completed a number of share
placements to various independent third party investors since
December 2010 and the Group’s interest in Hennabun was
further diluted to 26.20% as at 2 March 2011. The resulted
aggregate loss on deemed disposal of the Group’s interest
in Hennabun of HK$50,697,000 (note 6) was recognised in
the consolidated income statement and included in “Other

expenses, net”.

During the year, three individual loans amounting to
HK$125,000,000, HK$175,000,000, and HK$200,000,000
were advanced to Hennabun by the Group. In November
2010, the Group entered into a new loan agreement with
Hennabun, pursuant to which all loan facilities granted by
the Group to Hennabun were consolidated into a single
unsecured revolving loan facility of HK$500 million, of which
HK$500 million was made available during 1 November
2010 to 31 December 2010 and HK$250 million was made
available during 1 January 2011 to 31 October 2011 (the
“Outstanding Loan”), with interest on the drawn down
amount charged at the Hong Kong dollar prime rate as
quoted by The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited plus 2% per annum.
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o B ZE—FF +Z A# - Hennabun
EERZERAETEYE=FREER
MEENEE FEER_T——F=A
—HZHennabunz R EE -~ T #HEE
26.20% ° 8 {EHE AL E N Hennabunz
REERE 4 2 #2188 %50,697,0007T (Fff
6) RERE W KRR Wat A [ EHAb R
XOFRE] ©

RAFE  ANEEE MHennabun #37
= IE 5 B A E0# 125,000,000t 1
175,000,0007T * % # #200,000,0007TC
ZERMEFR - RZT—TF+—F &
L@ HHennabuns] 7 —EHHFE R
¥ It - AN £ B [AlHennabuni® H B Fr A 1
B & #F A& ¥500,000,0007T #) —
BEE-—SRRERERENR HPEK
500,000,000CAI R = E—FF +—H —
BHE2-_ZE—ZF+_-_A=+—BHHEE
b & & #250,000,000C A A = ——F
—A—BEZZE—F+A=1+—HH
ffEd (TREEEXR])  REKEBEERS
BLEEEZRITARQAMBETRE
BREM2E 2 FREGF R -



In March 2011, Hennabun entered into a shares subscription
agreement with the Group and Cordoba Homes Limited
("Cordoba”), an independent third party, pursuant to which
Hennabun agreed to allot and the Company and Cordoba
agreed to subscribe for 42,138,127 and 41,666,667
new ordinary shares of Hennabun at considerations of
approximately HK$252,829,000 and HK$250,000,000,
respectively. The consideration for the subscription by the
Group was satisfied by capitalising the Outstanding Loan
together with unpaid and accrued interest thereon, which
amounted to approximately HK$252,829,000. Following the
completion of these transactions, the Group’s interest in
Hennabun increased to 31.92% as at 31 March 2011. The
resulted net gain from the issuance of additional shares by
Hennabun of HK$18,821,000 (note 5) was recognised in
the consolidated income statement and included in “Other

income and gains”.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associate extracted from its
management accounts as at 31 March 2011 and for the

period then ended since it became the Group’s associate:

Assets BE
Liabilities B
Reserves &
Revenue Wz
Profit i A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

M -_ZF——% =5 Hennabun B KRX%
B & — % ¥ % = F Cordoba Homes
Limited ([Cordoba J ) 5T 37 B8 P& #5 5%
B tkHennabun@ BB 2 - A2 & &
Cordoba® Il [@ & LA # #252,829,000
TR B #250,000,000t 2 R BR
#842,138,127% 241,666,667k 2
Hennabun#T & @Ak - A& @ 2 RERE
BEEBEAREEERERRT RETF
B 4k 7% %252,829,0007T ° X 58
KREBRZ% R-_T——F=ZB=+—
A A& @ R HennabunZ 5 1E N &
31.92% ° Hennabun# 1T B8 HNIR 10 EE £
FTiS 2 #2585 %18,821,0007T (FI&ES)
RERE RS RER WA [HaRA R
Wezs] e

TRUPAREEBR 2 QAR 2V BERG
Ao DEEEER - E——F=A=+—
BERARAREBERARREEE
IRz ERRR -

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
BETT
3,027,077
585,068
85,081
86,347
13,696
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZRBERDA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

17. WHHERS

Group

KEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Unlisted investment, at fair value FELETIRE  HBAFE = 325,273
Unlisted investment, at cost JELEMRE A 502,542 -
Less: Impairment (note 6) &R E (Mf5Ee) (76,813) -
425,729 -
425,729 325,273

Unlisted investment as at 31 March 2011 represented the
Group's long term investment in the beneficial rights,
interests, entitlements, claims and undeclared dividends in
175,714 shares (representing 23.43% of the issued ordinary
shares) of Liu’s Holdings Limited (”Beneficial Interests”), a
private company incorporated in Hong Kong, acquired from
Mr. Liu Lit Man and Mrs. Liu Heu Seu Chu Pearl (parents
of Mr. Andrew Liu, a substantial shareholder and non-
executive director of the Company) at a cash consideration
of approximately HK$502,542,000 during the year pursuant
to a share purchase agreement dated 8 December 2010. In
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy and taken
into account that Liu’s Holdings Limited is a private company
and there is a lack of recent comparable transactions
with similar characteristics of the Beneficial Interests,
the investment was stated at cost less any impairment
losses. Further details of the acquisition are set out in the

Company's circular dated 30 December 2010.
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(Continued)

Having considered the changes in the circumstances
surrounding the Beneficial Interests subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement on 17 May 2011 with Mr.
Liu Lit Man and Mrs. Liu Heu Seu Chu Pearl, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to dispose of the Beneficial
Interests back to Mr. Liu Lit Man and Mrs. Liu Heu Seu Chu
Pearl at an aggregate cash consideration of approximately
HK$425,729,000, further details of which are disclosed in

the Company's circular dated 25 June 2011.

During the year ended 31 March 2011,
of HK$76,813,000 was recognised for the Group's available-

an impairment loss

for-sale investment in Liu’s Holdings Limited after taking into

account the above subsequent disposal consideration.

Unlisted investment as at 31 March 2010 represented the
Group's investment in a private equity fund, which was
deconsolidated from the Group’s financial statements upon
the deemed disposal of the Group’s interests in certain
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2011 (note
32(a)). During the year, the gross fair value gain in respect
of this available-for-sale investment recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$55,061,000 (2010:
HK$16,974,000).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERQA

Notes to Financial Statements

17.

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

HHERE @)

RBmEPRERRE CERERERBERLZ
28 AEER-_T——FAA+LAH
BRI e E MBI HFRAKRG LA GH
BEH® BUAEERERBERIXEE
REHAFRARNLEE=En  BEER
{B#) BB %425,729,0007T ° B Z H1E RN
ARRBHA-ZT——FNA=Z+HA
B 3 ER 4% R o

KEFELMPERE REBEE-_T—F
ZRA=+—BLEEE KAEERRERE
EERQAZAIHHERERABRERE
B AE76,813,0007T

R-F-—FTF=-_A=+—BMELTR
B EAKRER-BALEREESZR

B EAEERELERIES FW%"
Al (M5E320a)) K BEREEZ
**EEHE+*E¢$FWZX¢EA$
EEMBRERGEAR RAFE RE
hEMBRAFER JHEERERT
BEZB BN AB55061,000T (=T
—Z 4 : %%16,974,0007T) °
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

18. OTHER NON-CURRENT INVESTMENT

18. Hfth FFNENIR T

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—¥-—-F —T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Artworks e

Artworks as at 31 March 2010 represented paintings
acquired through public auctions and were held as a
long term investment. They were stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The artworks were deconsolidated from
the Group's financial statements upon the deemed disposal
of the Group's interests in certain subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 March 2011 (note 32(a)).

= 74,248

RIZE-ZF=A=+—Rz8%am 5
BERAFHBERBEREEE ERARMK
BI5A - 2R IARAN R ERDRERE
SR - EARBERIFLERGE THER
Az s (MIEE32(a) ) B - EfiTm R
E-_E-—F=ZA=+—BHLEFERK
LIERAREEMBEHRREE AR

19. LOANS RECEIVABLE 19. Bk ER

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans receivable FEUE 3R 47,027 620,550
Impairment BB (16,902) (16,902)
30,125 603,648

Less: Balances due within one year BCETARBEER—FA

included in current assets B HR 7 A5 ek (28,125) (539,325)
Non-current portion ERENE D 2,000 64,323
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19. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Loans receivable represent receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest
at rates ranging from 5% per annum to 24% per annum
(2010: 4% per annum to 10% per annum). The grants of
these loans were approved and monitored by the Company's
executive directors in charge of the Group’s provision of

finance operation.

Certain loans receivable with a carrying amount of
HK$2,007,000 (2010: HK$224,070,000) are secured by
the pledge of collateral and/or the provision of personal
guarantees/corporate undertakings by certain independent

third parties.

An aged analysis of the loans receivable (that are not
considered to be impaired) as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the payment due date, is as follows:

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

19. B R & (20

EREREASERURMEEXBES
ZEWGRIE - 2N TEE E24F 2 FF %
FRE(ZE—FF - NT4ER10EZF
FE) BEARBRERMEEB AR
AMTESREHARERERZEENR

A THREEAB2007,000T (ZF —
T4 B #224,070,0007T) 2 fE W E X
HETEBYE=F2EFR KR SiRH
BABER RAMREERERG -

RBERR  RAMAKAFEZEKE
KRB RRESE) ZREDTAT

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Neither past due nor impaired R Hf B R BE 30,125 603,648

Annual Report 2010/11 & %R



FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

19. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 19. BUR & (2)

The movements in provision for impairment of loans

receivable are as follows:

Group
AEH
2011 2010
i —ET-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
At beginning of year REA 16,902 20,000
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) B EREEE (Mii6) = (3,098)
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 16,902 16,902

Included in the above provision for impairment of loans
receivable is a provision for individually impaired loans
receivable of HK$16,902,000 (2010: HK$16,902,000)
with a total carrying amount of HK$16,902,000 (2010:
HK$16,902,000). The individually impaired loans receivable
relate to borrowers that are in financial difficulties and are

not expected to be recoverable.
Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired

relate to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there

was no recent history of default.
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20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERQA

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

20. FE U BR #x

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RABELFEEXEBRETES
ordinary course of business of 2 FEWAR K :
dealing in securities:
Clearing houses HEEFT - 51,227
Cash clients ReRP - 1,435
Margin clients TRERP = 349,732
- 402,394
Impairment WA = (7,108)
- 395,286
The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to BHEBEBEG ZEBREREE R

the dealing in securities business are two days after trade
date. The above balances as at 31 March 2010 were all

current and aged within 30 days based on the trade dates.

The provision for impairment of accounts receivable as at 31
March 2010 represented a provision for individually impaired
margin loans receivable of HK$98,151,000 when the margin
loans receivable were not fully covered by the pledged
marketable securities. Except for margin loans receivable of
HK$349,732,000 as at 31 March 2010 which were secured
by underlying equity securities, the Group did not hold any

collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

H’\%E%ﬁf&ﬂﬁﬁ°ﬁzﬁ’="§%ﬁﬁﬁ’tu
HEHRN_ZE—ZTF=-A=1+—HEHY
ﬁ?/lb@&ﬁﬁlﬁ@?%305lﬂq°

RZE—ZTF=RA=+—HBZEKEX
BERE ERNMEER 2 BEMESRRESD
HUR 2= B 1598,151,0007T 2 @B E BLAE
RRARERKZEBEH R —TF=
A=+—H8 kAE%349,732,0007T 2 &
WHRERAEMEBERAEFEER®
O RE BN MR R F AR E A AE A
on S H fth 15 FR 45 98 i BEE o
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
BEEZRARAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—F——#FZH=+—H

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 20. EURIR X (&)
The movements in provision for impairment of accounts ERER 2 REREZDHOT
receivable are as follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year REH 7,108 -
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) B EREEEE (H56) 10,456 7,108
Deemed disposal of interests in RIELEWB QAR
subsidiaries (17,564) -
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 7,108

Trading limits are set for customers. The Group seeks
to maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts
receivable in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue

balances were regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable as at 31 March 2010 that were not
impaired relate to a number of independent clients that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the
opinion that no provision for impairment was necessary
in respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances were

still considered fully recoverable as at 31 March 2010.
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

21. AT RIA - & K H B &

RECEIVABLES 15
Group Company
S 3L VNG|
31 March 31 March 1 April 31 March 31 March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
“E-—-f 2T C"ZETNF ZB--§ CIZ-ITf
ZB=+—-H =ZA=t—H mA—B ZA=Z+-B =ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETRT BETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (E5)
Prepayments and deposits BT RIEE 21,251 10,419 5,729 389 140
Other receivables H i & W FRIR 4,003 10,338 1,038 42 43
Advances to employees & B R fit 2 B - 20 261 - -
25,254 20,777 7,028 431 183
Less: Deposit paid for B ER
acquisition of an FERBEEN
associate classified as AN
a non-current asset 2iE® (20,000) - - = -
Non-current portion R B EB 1D 5,254 20,777 7,028 431 183

Other receivables balances are neither past due nor impaired
and the directors of the Company are of the opinion that

these balances are fully recoverable.

Deposit paid for acquisition of an associate classified as
a non-current asset as at 31 March 2011 represented the
deposit paid by the Group during the year for acquiring 41%
equity interest in Freeman Securities Limited (formerly known
as Dynasty Securities Limited), a Hong Kong incorporated
company which is principally engaged in securities brokerage
business, at a total consideration of HK$20,000,000. The
acquisition was subsequently completed in June 2011 and
the Group is in the process of assessing the financial impact
of the transaction.

H{th & WK TR A B B R B RORORUE - R
NRAEFRARF/EHRAUTEED -

MN-ZE——F=ZfA=+—BnkELEA
ERBEENBHERAAINNES AR
EEFARWEREESBRAT (A
EHRFFBERAT) (—HREBTMK
VAR EENEBFLLEREMN%
BAREMIAORS BREBBE
20,000,000 - WHE B THHBER ZF ——
FRNAEK AEEBEFHZBEXSZ

M E-
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

Notes to Financial Statements

B #5 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EFE——F=ZHA=+—H

22. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

22. BBRRBLULXFEHINEZ®RE

Group

rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Current assets REEE
Listed equity investments, FHRERE ETE
at market value:

Hong Kong BB 964,452 828,808
Singapore N 17,813 15,610
982,265 844,418
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELEM”E  HAFE 51,636 20,495
1,033,901 864,913

The investments as at 31 March 2011 and 2010 were
classified as held for trading. The Group’s investments in
securities with an aggregate carrying value at the end of
the reporting period of approximately HK$1,033,910,000
(2010: HK$864,913,000) were pledged to certain financial
institutions to secure certain margin financing facilities
provided to the Group of which HK$65,431,000 (2010:
HK$8,356,000) were utilised at the end of the reporting
period.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed equity securities held
by the Group as at 31 March 2011 was approximately
HK$877,052,000 (2010: HK$646,203,000).
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RZE——FR_FT—TF=A=+—
HREEDERBIEEERA K|S
HR AEERZEBEHF2REZER
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T B#864,913,0007T) BT E
TomlE URGBAEEER 2 ETH
EEE  EA8165431,000 (ZF—
T4F 1 5%8,356,00070) RIS HIARE B
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23.

24.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZERBRLQA

Notes to Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23
The balance as at 31 March 2010 represented trading
rights which were considered to have indefinite useful
lives because they were expected to contribute net cash
flows indefinitely to the cash generating units to which
they relate. Following the deemed disposal of the Group's
interests in certain subsidiaries as disclosed in note 32(a)
to these financial statements, the intangible assets were

deconsolidated from the Group’s financial statements.

B R R AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

R-B-—ZF=ZA=+—BHZHEHBER
S - HNZER ZRETER A ER A AE
MeReELEURRRESREFH &
WRBEBERAERFY - REELE
AEERETHWBAR 2 (RAMK
WA FE32@)WE) & BEEECD KL
RAEBEMBHRREE AR

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 24 Bl RM|ITREERLI R SZRHBR
RESTRICTED CASH &
Group Company
REE KA H
2011 2010 2011 2010
—¥-—-% -ZT-TF =8--F =-T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB BT T BT
Cash and bank balances Be RRITHS 382,624 170,249 59,662 18,468

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
amounted to HK$2,162,000 (2010: HK$263,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

RBERAR AEBUARE (TAR
I EZE S RBRTEBRBE
2,162,0007T ( —Z T —Z 4 : B #263,000
) c AREEZMEMEBEHR LR
SR ARB R B A 2 CHNE B IR &P
k(EE EERNEEERTE) A&
EEAEZBBEERETINEELE ZR
TEARBABREMER -
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARAA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
RESTRICTED CASH (continued)
Certain cash at banks of the Group and of the Company
earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances

approximate to their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised
institutions in respect of clients’” monies arising from the
course of securities trading and the respective financing
services. As at 31 March 2011, no money (2010:
HK$148,220,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at
31 March 2010 were not included in the Group’s and the

Company's balances of cash and bank balances.
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MIRTTEGZEEEREERAFEEE-

REERERERBRITERE TR
BEPRESBEEREREEREREHE
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

RE

EEZERAERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

135,121

298,153

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. iR RMITR At iR
BORROWINGS
Group e
2011 2010 (Restated) 2009 (Restated)
Z5--f% “T-ZF(BE)) ZEENF(8E))
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 Maturity HK$'000
BEER BEER
FI% (%) HEA BBT T FI%(%) i BETT i BETT
Current
W
Current portion of Prime*-2.90 to 2011-2012 5174 Prime*-3.15to 2010 - 2011 5,047 2009 - 2010 6,040
long term bank Prime*-2.00 Prime*-2.00
loans - secured
RARTERNRDEH-FER SEEfE  —B—%% FEEHE  -B3-%FE ZEEnEE
NEES (T S SREES 1= S “T-%%
HE£200 AE£200
Current portion of - - - CRR-150t0  2010-20M1 557 - -
long term bank CFR™-0.75
loans - secured
REROERNRDE-FER AEAERNE  —5-T%Z
AS0EFREE 3%
Fl%0.75
Long term bank loans Prime*-2.90 to On demand 64,516 Prime*-3.15 to On demand 69,690 On demand 85,932
repayable on demand Prime*-2.00 Prime*-2.00
- secured®
EREXBENRARTER FEEH % BEX FEEH R BEX BEX
-HERe 290EREE 315 EREE
FlE=-2.00 Fl%E*-2.00
Long term bank loans - - - CFR%-0.75 0 On demand 14,503 - -
repayable on demand CFR*+0.75
- secured®
AREXERNRIROER EEEEvEY BEX
-R e VT5EEER
ERIZEH0.75
Other borrowings
bR
- secured (note 22) 1.78-7.24 On demand 65,431 175 On demand 8,35 - -
-FEA (M) ED 1.75 EED
- unsecured - - - Prime*-2.50 2010 200,000 2009 18,000
-BER FEEAZE50 ZT-TF “EINE

109,972
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
REGEXEZERARAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. 5B RITRAMER 2
BORROWINGS (continued)
Group (Continued) RED (&)
2011 2010 (Restated) 2009 (Restated)
“E--% ZE-TE(KE)) ZEENE(HE))
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 Maturity HK$'000
§5ER 5EER
FI%(%) HEA BETT % (%) %A BETT %A BETT
Current
ik 135,121 298,153 109,972
Non-current
E ik
Other borrowing
R
- unsecured Prime* 2013 200,000 - - - - -
it REEFE —E-cf
335,121 298,153 109,972
Company AT
2011 2010
“5--f Z3-%F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BEER BEER
I%(%) H4A BETT % (%) B BETT
Non-current
¥h8
Other borrowing
AffER
- unsecured Prime* 2013 200,000 - - -
b REEFE “E-cf
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
CEZRERATA

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. AR BMITR EMER =
BORROWINGS (continued)
Group Company
r5H ARF
31 March 31 March 1 April 31 March 31 March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010

—B-—-f CZT-TF CZTTNF ZB--F C—T-TF
=ZA=t-H ZA=1+—H MA—-B =ZA=t+-H =ZA=1+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET R BB BEF T BET R AT
(Restated) (Restated)

(g&51) (&&5)

Analysed into: k)i
Bank loans repayable BN —&F

¥
haiéi
o
pE

within one year or on

demand® HSRITE 5e 69,690 89,797 91,972 - -
Other borrowings AEEEMEE
repayable:
Within one year —FR - 200,000 18,000 = -
In the second year B FR 200,000 - - 200,000 -
200,000 200,000 18,000 200,000 -
Margin loan borrowings 7B E k(€&
repayable on demand HERENEE 65,431 8,356 - - -
335,121 298,153 109,972 200,000 -
* Represents the Hong Kong dollar prime lending rate as quoted * %Eﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ[ﬁ CAEMERIT (BB A
by The Bank of East Asia, Limited, Citibank (Hong Kong) Tﬁﬁzxﬁﬁiﬁﬁ‘i@ﬁﬂﬁ/,\ AIFTER 2
Limited or Bank of Communications Co., Limited. /%”r% BEENRFE-
# Represented the Singapore dollar commercial financing rate as # RERITERD AR 2 FT N TR
quoted by United Overseas Bank Limited. BEEFIE o
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—F——#FZH=+—H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

@

Notes:

As further explained in note 2.2 to these financial statements,
due to the adoption of HK Interpretation 5 in the current year,
the Group's term loans in the amounts of HK$64,516,000
(2010: HK$84,193,000) containing an on-demand clause have
been reclassified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the
above analysis, the loans are included within current interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and analysed into bank
loans repayable within one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts
repayable in respect of the loans are: within one year or on
demand HK$5,174,000 (2010: HK$5,604,000); in the second
year HK$5,305,000 (2010: HK$5,715,000); in the third to fifth
years, inclusive HK$16,732,000 (2010: HK$17,982,000); and
beyond five years HK$42,479,000 (2010: HK$60,496,000).

Included in the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings as
at 31 March 2010 was a borrowing with carrying amount of
HK$15,060,000, which is denominated in Singapore dollars.
All other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2011 and
2010 are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group's bank loans are secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group's leasehold land and
buildings with an aggregate carrying value at the end of
the reporting period of approximately HK$23,271,000
(2010: HK$60,847,000) (note 13);

(i) mortgages over the Group’s investment properties with
an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately HK$140,854,000 (2010:
HK$118,770,000) (note 14); and

(iii) a corporate guarantee given by the Company up to
HK$85,141,000 (2010: HK$85,141,000) as at the end
of the reporting period (note 36).
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BN B IS SRR MY RE2 20 — S
AR AFERMNBEERESSHT AE
ERErERERERERZEHER
564,516,000 (ZE—ZTF 5
#84,193,000 ) EEF N E AR &
Bt LA E  EXRGTAREE
RIOTREMER XHWABER—FR
FIREREENRITER

BEERMEBER ERNEEER
A AR FRANEEREES
5,174,000 (Z T — T F B
5,604,0007C) : ARE_FANEER
5,305,000 (ZE—TF: 8%
5,715,0007t)  HERE=ZF R FANE
BB EE16,732,000 (2 —
5 1617,982,0000T) - RAN A F
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F 1 % #60,496,0007T) °

REBR-_ZT—ZTF=A=+—A2Z:f
BARTTIEERE TN L HE KR
B A8%15060,000C 2 tEE - R =-F
——FrkZZT-ZFTF=-A=+—H 'K
SEfMBHEMEBEYABENE.
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(h MNAEBZzHEELWREFIER
B ERREHRZEEAENA
7#523,271,0000T (ZE—Z 4 :
7 #60,847,0007) (FEE13)

(i) WAEEZEEMEERE H
RIMERRZEERBEN BB
140,854,000t (Z T —ZF 8
#118,770,00070) (KizE14)
53

(i) ARARMEHZARER RIS
K5 1= 3= /B 85,141,000t (=
T —ZF 5 ¥85,141,0000T)
(FF5E36) ©



Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2010

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$105,800,000

In September 2009, the Company issued a zero coupon
convertible note due in 2012 in the principal amount of
HK$105,800,000 (the “2012 CN") to an independent third
party as consideration for the acquisition of Hennabun.
Further information of the business combination is disclosed

in note 31 to these financial statements.

The 2012 CN was unsecured, interest-free and due for
repayment at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
at the third anniversary date following the date of issue of
the 2012 CN. The 2012 CN was convertible into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time from the date of issue
of the 2012 CN up to (and excluding) seven days prior
to (and including) the maturity date at a conversion price
of HK$0.11 per share (subject to adjustments) which was
subsequently adjusted to HK$1.1 per share. Upon full
conversion of the 2012 CN, on the basis of the conversion
price of HK$1.1 per share (subject to adjustments), a total of
96,181,818 new ordinary shares of the Company would be

issued.

In October 2009, the Company elected and agreed with the
noteholder to redeem the entire 2012 CN at a redemption
consideration of HK$100,000,000.

The fair value of the 2012 CN as at the date of acquisition
of Hennabun in September 2009 was HK$93,889,000. The
conversion option of the 2012 CN was measured at fair
value upon initial recognition and presented as a derivative
financial instrument. The residual amount was recognised as
a liability component which was subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

RBE-Z2-ZF=-A=Z+—-HLEE
RITZABRRER

K% 458 %105,800,0007C .2

R EE

ZETNFNAR ARBM—EBBILE=
FE(TA S R R E¥105,800,0007T A =
T-—FHHBMyTEAMBRER (12012
AR ERE]) - fEARKEEHennabunz 26
DRE - EBE O EMFIBER AR B R
R FE3TIRE -

202 RREBRAEEAR B RAR
201271 IR |AR 1T B 18 m 5 = B F
AEERKEEARSTE 2100% 20127
BREEAI R0 BB EEHETAS
MR (BEZBE)LE (TEEZA)
HR MR - R R RESREBE011T
(AIFHRAR) HRARDBLBER  LnE
Hig B ASREBE1 170 R20127 #
REBEZHHRK RHBREABRE
1 m (AT FHE) 2 2% /,\YT’§XTT$
AR)A 96,181,818/ # L il

ZERNFT A ARBIEEWEEER
BABTAERMNEB100,000,0007T
EE 25020127 AR 24k -

RZZEZTNF N AKEHennabunz
H 202/ REB 2 A TFERBE
93,889,0007T c —E— —F A MR TE
PL?@-‘%H%%E RERERRR A FE
2 WIATEEMIA - BEERAA
B - HIEFE A ERF R E KA

HE -

f&
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31 March 2011
—F——F=A=+-A

Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2010 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$50,000,000

In September 2009, upon the acquisition of Hennabun, a
zero coupon convertible note due in 2015 in the principal
amount of HK$50,000,000 (the “Hennabun 2015 CN")
issued by Hennabun was consolidated into the Group's
financial statements. Further information of the business
combination is disclosed in note 31 to these financial

statements.

The Hennabun 2015 CN was unsecured, interest-free and
due for repayment at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount at the sixth anniversary date following the date
of issue of the Hennabun 2015 CN in September 2009.
The Hennabun 2015 CN was convertible into ordinary
shares of Hennabun at any time from the date of issue
of the Hennabun 2015 CN up to seven days prior to (and
excluding) the maturity date at a conversion price of

HK$0.08 per share (subject to adjustments).

In December 2009, Hennabun redeemed the outstanding
Hennabun 2015 CN in the principal amount of
HK$50,000,000 at a redemption consideration of
HK$50,000,000.

The fair value of the liability component of the Hennabun
2015 CN was estimated at the acquisition date of Hennabun
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar note

without a conversion option.
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K288 58 %50,000,0005T 2
AR E

RZZEZTNF LA WEHennabun
BF - HennabunfT 81T A& A B K
50,000,000t R =T —RFH 2T R
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2010 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$301,000,000

In January 2010, Hennabun and Super Star Far East
Limited (“Super Star”), an independent third party, entered
into a subscription agreement pursuant to which, a
convertible note due in 2012 in the principal amount of
HK$301,000,000 that was convertible into ordinary shares of
Hennabun (the “Hennabun 2012 CN") was issued to Super

Star by Hennabun.

The Hennabun 2012 CN was unsecured, interest-free and
due for repayment at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount at the second anniversary date following the date
of issue of the Hennabun 2012 CN. The Hennabun 2012
CN was convertible into ordinary shares of Hennabun at
any time from the date of issue of the Hennabun 2012 CN
up to (and excluding) seven days prior to (and including)
the maturity date at a conversion price of HK$7 per share

(subject to adjustment).

31 March 2011
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31 March 2011
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2010 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$301,000,000 (Continued)

Upon full conversion of the Hennabun 2012 CN, on the basis
of the initial conversion price of HK$7 per share (subject
to adjustments), a total of 43,000,000 new ordinary shares
of Hennabun would be issued, representing 23.9% of
the issued share capital of Hennabun as enlarged by such
conversion at the issue date. Accordingly, the Group’s equity
interest in Hennabun would be diluted to approximately
39.3% of the issued share capital of Hennabun as
enlarged by full conversion of the Hennabun 2012 CN and
thereafter, Hennabun would cease to be a subsidiary of
the Company and its results would not be consolidated in
the financial statements of the Group. In October 2010,
Hennabun elected to redeem the entire Hennabun 2012
CN at a redemption consideration of HK$301,000,000. The
convertible note was fully redeemed by cash on the same
date. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as
the noteholder didn’t have any voting right in Hennabun by
reason only of being the noteholder, the Company was able
to maintain control over Hennabun since acquisition and till

the redemption date.

The fair value of the liability component of the Hennabun
2012 CN was estimated at the issuance date using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar note without a

conversion option.
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$200,000,000

In July 2010, Hennabun and Smart Orient Investments
Limited (“Smart Orient”), an independent third party,
entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which
a convertible note due in 2013 in the principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 that was convertible into ordinary shares
of Hennabun (the “Hennabun 200 CN") was issued to Smart

Orient by Hennabun.

The Hennabun 200 CN was unsecured, interest-free and
due for repayment at 100% at the outstanding principal
amount at the third anniversary date following the date
of issue of the Hennabun 200 CN. The Hennabun 200 CN
was convertible into the ordinary shares of Hennabun at
any time from the date of issue of the Hennabun 200 CN
up to (and excluding) the commencement of the seven
calendar day period ending on (and including) the maturity
date at a conversion price of HK$5.4 per share (subject to

adjustments).

31 March 2011
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31 March 2011
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 (Continued)

Upon full conversion of the Hennabun 200 CN, on the basis
of the initial conversion price of HK$5.4 per share (subject
to adjustments), a total of 37,037,037 new ordinary shares
of Hennabun would be issued, representing 21.3% of
the issued share capital of Hennabun as enlarged by such
conversion at the issue date. Accordingly, the Group’s equity
interest in Hennabun would be diluted to approximately
40.6% of the issued share capital of Hennabun as enlarged
by full conversion of the Hennabun 200 CN and thereafter,
Hennabun would cease to be a subsidiary of the Company
and its results would not be consolidated in the financial
statements of the Group. In September 2010, Hennabun
elected to redeem the outstanding Hennabun 200 CN in
the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 at a redemption
consideration of HK$200,000,000. The convertible note was
fully redeemed by cash on the same date. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, as the noteholder didn’t have
any voting right in Hennabun by reason only of being the
noteholder, the Company was able to maintain control over

Hennabun since acquisition and till the redemption date.

The fair value of the liability component of the Hennabun
200 CN was estimated at the issuance date using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar note without a

conversion option.
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$300,000,000

In December 2010, Hennabun and Skytop Technology
Limited (“Skytop”), an independent third party, entered
into a subscription agreement pursuant to which, a
convertible note due in 2011 in the principal amount of
HK$300,000,000 that was convertible into ordinary shares of
Hennabun (the “Hennabun 300 CN") was issued to Skytop
by Hennabun.

The Hennabun 300 CN was unsecured, bore interest at
5% per annum and due for repayment at 100% of the
outstanding principal amount at the first anniversary date
following the date of issue of the Hennabun 300 CN. The
Hennabun 300 CN was convertible into ordinary shares
of Hennabun at any time from the date of issue of the
Hennabun 300 CN up to (and excluding) the commencement
of seven calendar day period ending on (and including)
the maturity date at a conversion price of HK$6 per share

(subject to adjustments).
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31 March 2011
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Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$300,000,000 (Continued)

Upon full conversion of the Hennabun 300 CN, on the
basis of the initial conversion price of HK$6 per share
(subject to adjustments), a total of 50,000,000 new ordinary
shares of Hennabun would be issued, representing 26.9%
of the issued share capital of Hennabun as enlarged
by such conversion at the issue date. Accordingly, the
Group’s equity interest in Hennabun would be diluted
to approximately 38.0% of the issued share capital
of Hennabun as enlarged by full conversion of the
Hennabun 300 CN and thereafter, Hennabun would
cease to be a subsidiary of the Company and its results
would not be consolidated in the financial statements of
the Group. In February 2011, Hennabun redeemed the
outstanding Hennabun 300 CN in the principal amount
of HK$300,000,000 at a redemption consideration of
HK$300,000,000. The convertible note was fully redeemed
by cash on the same date. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, as the noteholder didn’t have any voting right
in Hennabun by reason only of being the noteholder, the
Company was able to maintain control over Hennabun since

acquisition and till the redemption date.

The fair value of the liability component of the Hennabun
300 CN was estimated at the issuance date using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar note without a

conversion option.

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

REBE-Z-——E=A=+—-BHLEE
BOZUBRKRERE (&)
2 £ 7 75 78 #300,000,0007T 2
HERERE (&)
M Hennabun 3007 # ik =R E R H K
s 12 7)) ZFR?Q{EZ%HX}%%@_E (|
THRE)E%E ’E%?F‘??Hennabun
& #£50,000,000/% #7 & i@ i - 2 & 1
Hennabunp® 81T A EAL A E@RT@?EEK
BEBEITRAZ269% I - ANEE
MHennabunZ AR = K EE %
Hennabun#¥ 7& 21 54, # Hennabun 3007]
BRBREBERED EITRAL38.0%
Hi&Hennabuni§ T~ B AR QA 2 M EA
A MEEEKTHERAEBMEREFR
FEAR N ZZT——9F=H 'Hennabun
B 12 UAME @ 88 %300,000,0007T /& [
7N % 8 /5 75 #300,000,0007T ) 5 & [E]
Hennabun 300F iR E & - AR Z &
REBUREEZHEL -ARAZEER
R HBAREBEHAEARBAREAERSE
TJ%?%E/\ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁAHennabunZEﬁ&%‘%
A ARI BWE AU REZER
HR 1915 LA 4 35 ¥ Hennabun 2 128 Il # -

A 21T HER Hennabun 300 2R Z
BERHPZATFECIREN HIRERE Y
FEEE 2 EEMSMERMGE-

ﬁ%ﬁ



Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$550,000,000

In October 2010, convertible notes in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$275,000,000 were issued by the Company to
Mr. Andrew Liu (a non-executive director of the Company)
and other independent investors procured by Mr. Andrew
Liu) (“Firm Bond”). The Firm Bond was embedded with
options to subscribe for additional convertible notes of the
Company with same principal amount (the “Optional Bond")
upon conversion during the period from the issue date to
the first anniversary date of shareholders’ approval. Both the
Firm Bond and the Optional Bond were subscribed in full

during the period from October 2010 to January 2011.

Both the Firm Bond and the Optional Bond were unsecured,
interest-free and due for repayment at 100% of the
outstanding principal amounts at the second anniversary
date and fourth anniversary date of the date of shareholders’
approval, respectively. Both the Firm Bond and the Optional
Bond were convertible into ordinary shares of the Company
might at any time from the date of issue up to the maturity
date at a conversion price of HK$0.275 per share (subject to

adjustments).
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Convertible notes issued during the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$550,000,000 (Continued)

During the period from October 2010 to March 2011,
the holders of the Firm Bond and the Optional Bond
elected the full conversion of the two notes into a total of

1,999,999,994 new ordinary shares of the Company.

The embedded conversion options and subscription options
of the Firm Bond and the Optional Bond were measured at
fair value upon initial recognition and presented as derivative
financial instruments. The respective excess of proceeds over
the amount initially recognised as the derivative component
of the Firm Bond and the Optional Bond were recognised as
liability components which were subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

26. N[ FEE &)
AEBFRBTEARBREE Y BESD

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The movements of the liability component, equity

component and derivative component of the various BRSO RITELIARHESHNT
convertible notes issued by the Group are as follows:
Group REH
Liability Equity Derivative
component  component  component Total
BEHS Ei¥o TEIARS meE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P F BETT BB T BT AT T
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNF
mMA—A - - - -
Issuance during the year: &FR#1T:
2012 CN 2012
EEL e 31 40,354 - 53,535 93,889
Hennabun 2012 CN Hennabun
2012
QE:LES 213,333 45,263 - 258,596
Fair value gain on the 2012°1 R R I&

2012 CN ZRFERE - - (16,030) (16,030)
Interest expenses MERX 8,893 - - 8,893
Acquisition of interests in U BB A 7

subsidiaries: T

Hennabun 2015 CN Hennabun
2015
ABRRER 31 19,787 - - 19,787
Redemption during FRER:
the year:
2012 CN 2012
AR RE (40,936) - (37,505) (78,441)
Hennabun 2015 CN Hennabun
2015
AR RE (20,313) - - (20,313)
At 31 March 2010 R_E—FTF
=A=+—H 221,118 45,263 - 266,381
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

26. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

26. AT RIE ()

Liability Equity Derivative
component  component  component Total
EERS By TEIAEHRS meE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P BB T BB T AT AET T
At 1 April 2010 RZZE—ZF
mMA—H 221,118 45,263 - 266,381
Issuance during the year: &FR#1T:
Hennabun 300 CN Hennabun 300
ABRRER 297,210 1,440 - 298,650
Hennabun 200 CN Hennabun 200
QELES 193,638 3,285 - 196,923
Firm Bond RAEFH 133,482 - 141,518 275,000
Optional Bond RS 173,244 - 101,756 275,000
Interest expenses MEAX 7 25,047 - - 25,047
Fair value gain of RAlEFREREE
the Firm Bond and the  #H 2 2N FEUEE
Optional Bond 5 - - (32,470) (32,470)
Redemption during the ~ FREMD :
year:
Hennabun 2012 CN Hennabun
2012
RRER (244,368) (45,263) - (289,631)
Hennabun 200 CN Hennabun 200
AHRRREE (193,946) (3,285) - (197,231)
Deemed disposal of BIEHEMB LR
interests in subsidiaries: 12
Hennabun 300 CN Hennabun 300
ARREE  32() (297,210 (1,440) - (298,650)
Conversion during FRRB:
the year:
Firm Bond NEMEH (134,732) - (78,526) (213,258)
Optional Bond WG5S (173,483) - (132,278) (305,761)
At 31 March 2011 RZT——F
—R=+—H - - - -
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26. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The movements of the

liability component, equity

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

26. N[ FEE &)
ADNFABATETRBREE Y B EH

component and derivative component of the various DRI RITEIAEROESHNAT :
convertible notes issued by the Company are as follows: (#&)
(Continued)
Company
AT
Liability Derivative
component component Total
g2EHs TEIAERS wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZTNF
MmA—A - - -
Issuance of the 2012 CN 172012 A] ] R & 40,354 53,535 93,889
Fair value gain on 20127 #
the 2012 CN S PA/N R E - (16,030) (16,030)
Redemption of the FREER2012
2012 CN during the year Al R IR (40,936) (37,505) (78,441)
Interest expense FERX 582 - 582
At 31 March 2010 and RZE—FF
1 April 2010 =A=+—HB=
—ZT-FF
MmA—H - - _
Issuance during the year:  F R 7T
Firm Bond NAEEFH 133,482 141,518 275,000
Optional Bond HiEES 173,244 101,756 275,000
Conversion during the year: & X #
Firm Bond RNAEEFH (134,732) (78,526) (213,258)
Optional Bond HiEES (173,483) (132,278) (305,761)
Fair value gain of the Firm A RES R HEES
Bond and the Optional ZRATEES
Bond - (32,470) (32,470)
Interest expenses FMEREZ 1,489 ~ 1,489
At 31 March 2011 R-ZT——%F
=A=+—H - - _
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2011
—F——#FZH=+—H

27. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax during the year are as

27.EFERIF
ECHEREN #HMT

follows:
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE
Group KEH
Revaluation of properties
MEEM
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok Saubiv
At beginning of year REH] 4,895 754
Deferred tax charged to the income FRARYERMBR CIEERIE
statement during the year 1,528 4,141
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32(b)) HEWE QR (MFE32(0b)) (900) -
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 March M=A=+—BZEEH B A E®EE 5,523 4,895
Deferred tax assets ELEBEEE
Group rE
Temporary differences
related to impairment
Revaluation of properties of receivables Total
MEER EXFERBEZEBERER @t
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--% CZ%-%% CZE--§ CZE-T§f CZB--§ CZT-%f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TR  BETr  B¥Tn BT BT EETrx
At beginning of year R - - - - - -
Deferred tax credited to the income ERF AMERZ
statement during the year ERHE (441) - (2,491) - (2,932) -
Deemed disposal of interests RIELERHBAR
in subsidiaries (note 32(a)) 4 (fi13320)) 441 - 2,491 - 2,932 -
Gross deferred tax assets R=RA=+t-RA2
at 31 March BEEREEELR - - - - - -
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27.

28.

DEFERRED TAX (cContinued)

At 31 March 2011, the Group had tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$1,149,849,000 (2010:
HK$1,299,451,000), subject to the agreement by the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised at the end of the reporting period
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies
that have been loss-making for some time or due to the

unpredictability of future profit streams of those companies,
and accordingly, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

27.

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

RZTE——F=ZA=Z+—RH &%
BEEBEEZRBEBERRNBE
1,149,849,000c (ZF — T F : B
1,299,451,0007T) (EREEMRBREE
B) ZEVEEBRERGAEEEE
HEEB 2 AR 2 RRERTR T - BRER
BEBAEBERZATEERZRIARK
BERETE 5% 55 A B 2 R AR B HOR - MR
R AERBGF A AT8 A 2 B8
BEEH BERBEHR WEREZSE
BREBERECHEBELE-

SHARE CAPITAL 28. & &
Shares &)
Company
KAF
2011 2010
= T -FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Authorised: ETE
50,000,000,000 (2010: 50,000,000,0000% (= ZF — T4 :
50,000,000,000) ordinary shares of 50,000,000,000% ) X E &
HK$0.10 each EEE0.107T 2 E A 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERE:
4,713,701,431 (2010: 381,356,198) 4,713,701,431 (=T —ZTF:
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 381,356,198% ) & R E B
BEE0 10T 2 TR 471,370 38,135
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 78 3R 3k BT &

31 March 2011

—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 28. ﬂ§2|5 (#%&)
A summary of the movements of the Company's issued RARBEHTRARR D & ER 2 EE)
capital and share premium account is as follows: Bt T
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BERITRHEE EETRA R EER ag
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ki3 BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2009 R-ZENFNA—H 1,954,634,992 195,463 347,607 543,070
Capital reorganisation RAEAR (a) (1,759,171,491) (175,917) - (175,917)
Repurchase of shares ERKRH (b) ) - - -
Placing of new shares = (© 185,892,699 18,589 78,602 97,191
Share issue expenses* e - - (2,700) (2,700)
At 31 March 2010 and R_T-TF
1 April 2010 “A=T-Ak
“Z-ZFMA-A 381,356,198 38,135 423,509 461,644
Issue of new shares on conversion 1 ¥ AR 2
of convertible notes BITHRD (d) 1,999,999,994 200,000 319,019 519,019
Placing of new shares REHRH (e) 2,294,345,239 229,435 424,024 653,459
Share options exercised iR Bl (f) 38,000,000 3,800 18,911 22,711
Share issue expenses Rin#IHE% - - (15,805) (15,805)
At 31 March 2011 RZB——%
ZR=t+-H 4,713,701,431 471,370 1,169,658 1,641,028
© RRE-F-BF=AST-ALS
EROGBETHIREIN T —HEINE

g ) (1N
A /78 1%1,350,0007T ' EREEAE ARR

I

ZEH-

kil

Included in the share issue expenses for the year ended 31
March 2010 was a sum of HK$1,350,000 that was paid to a

subsidiary which was eliminated in full at consolidation.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

In April 2009, the Company effected a capital reorganisation
which involved: (a) a reduction in the nominal value of
each issued ordinary share of the Company from HK$0.10
to HK$0.01 by the cancellation of HK$0.09 of the paid-up
capital for each issued ordinary share; (b) the application
of the credit arising from such reduction of approximately
HK$175,917,149 to cancel towards the accumulated losses of
the Company; and (c) the consolidation of every ten reduced
shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company into
one adjusted share of the Company of HK$0.10 each.

In April 2009, the Company repurchased two ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each on the Stock Exchange at HK$0.04
per share. The repurchased shares were cancelled and,
accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The difference
between the issued capital purchased and the value of cash
consideration paid was credited to the capital redemption
reserve of the Company.

The Company allotted and issued 39,000,000, 100,000,000
and 46,892,699 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each for
cash in October 2009, January 2010 and January 2010 to
independent third parties at prices of HK$0.60, HK$0.48 and
HK$0.55 per share, respectively.

As further disclosed in note 26 to these financial statements,
during the year ended 31 March 2011, 1,999,999,994 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company were issued
at a price of HK$0.275 per share upon the conversion of the
Firm Bond and the Optional Bond with principal amounts
totalling HK$550,000,000.

In April 2010, August 2010, October 2010 and January 2011,
the Company allotted and issued 76,270,000, 99,125,239,
118,950,000 and 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.10
each for cash to independent third parties at prices of
HK$0.50, HK$0.275, HK$0.32 and HK$0.275, respectively.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEERERAA

Notes to Financial Statements
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28. B8 & (&)

UL

(a)

ZETNFOA KRARETRAE
HoBRE: FEBTESERTEBER
ZERBEAEE0T BARBEE
BTLRRCEERTRAEE0.10TH
BEFB0.017T  (b)B) A B EIE
BEE 2R BE175,917,1497T A K
HARTREEE ROBARRBKRAE
FETRERAEEBE0.01T 2B E
BERMDEFARRR—REESEK.10
TLZ ISR -

TEZAFOA ARFRREREE
0.047T 2 fE & B 52 Py [ i P A &5 A T
ERBIOTZ EEBR -BBRNET
A FEt ARB B BITRATERZ
iy cEERD - mEZ 2 #ITRA
HENZREREMZEZREFTALR
EPA-ENHCE R

RKARDBHRZZZNFTA - ZF
—EF-ARZZTE"ZTF-—AME
N2 =75 Bl % &% #7739,000,0000%
100,000,0000% 246,892,699/% & % E
BEEK0 10z AR - AREGR S
& VE{E 5 B 78 #0.607T » 75 #0.487T &
A #0.555T °

MINAB MR E26WE REBE=
T——F=-RA=+—HIEFE AQ7F
RHEBMA S E A H A %550,000,000
THARBEFRPERES R BT
1,999,999,994 8 F R EEE#0.107TH)
LB BREITEBRE275T

RZE—ZTFWA - —_ZTE—ZFFN
A 22— ZF+ARZE—F—
A ARalDRRBLE=HRER
#1776,270,0000% - 99,125,239% -
118,950,000/% % 2,000,000,000/% &
REEEBI0OT 2 E @R - LABE
Re BREEBRBE0S0T B
0.2757T « B %0.327T R A& #0.2757T °
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(f) In April 2010, the subscription rights attaching to 38,000,000
share options that were granted by the Company to its
employees on the same date were exercised in full at
subscription price of HK$0.57 per share, resulting in the issue
of 38,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$21,660,000. The related share option reserve of
HK$1,051,000 was credited to the share premium account

upon the exercise of shares options.

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 23 August 2002 (the “2002 Scheme”).
The 2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from 23 August 2002 (the
“Adoption Date”). The primary purpose of the 2002 Scheme
is to provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and

its shareholders as a whole.

The categories of the participants under the 2002 Scheme
are any directors (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
of the Company and its subsidiaries and employees of
the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
joint venture business partners, promoters, service providers
to the Group whom the board of directors of the Company
(the "“Board”) considers, in its sole discretion, have

contributed or will contribute to the Group.
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The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to
any participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed
to have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the
offer duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1
by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received
by the Company. Share options granted may be exercised
during the period as notified by the Board to each grantee at
the time of making the offer and shall be at any time from

the date of grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options granted under the
2002 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company (excluding share options lapsed) must not
exceed 311,612,404 shares, being approximately 10%
of the total number of the Company’s ordinary shares in
issue on the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"”).
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in
respect of which share options may be granted to each of
the participants (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the 2002 Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not (when aggregated with any shares subject to any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1%
of the Company's ordinary shares in issue. The Company
may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject
to prior shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the
Stock Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in
the Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options

pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

31 March 2011
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EXRSRERBBAERAEMNZ2EARSE
BREED BEARAREEORNMN (K
REAKEABRALAREZANEZ)ER
BERAELHERERAARR N ZRE
BEITR BHOBRGRIFCERANE
BEGREFCSEL BARAR -ER
HeBREATNEESREZBORBAM
BAERAZHRATTE  MzxHEASR
HAMEZES B IE 2 ERER-

BEBE_TT -_F e RAQAEMEAM
BREGEMBREOMERRE (T8
ERMEARE) BATRE mAl TR
MR 4280 TRl #838311,612,404R% A& 15 -
EREMBEBEARAERITEBRAEH
#10% ([5HEIEE ER]) - BoM BIB
ZETEZFE NER+Z@EAHER
E2MERHOERE (BEDTERER
TEERE) FRNEEREEHAE (X
2N X A A fa] E At B A% 4 51 &1 A9 (E ] AR 19
BEE) TR HBARAAREEITE AR
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2002 Scheme shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall
not be less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date on which a
share option is granted; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company's share as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which a share option is

granted; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Following the resolutions for the refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit approved by the shareholders by way of a
poll at the extraordinary general meetings on 20 May 2010
and 30 March 2011, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2002 Scheme was refreshed to 471,370,143
ordinary shares of the Company as at the end of the

reporting period.
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29. RERRHE AT &

. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
THRE-ZSZ - Fr 8 E N 2 B

The following share options were outstanding under the

2002 Scheme: R A R RATE
Number of share options** Price of the Company's shares***
EREHE FRRRBER
Adjusted
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Adjustments Exercise period  exercise Immediately
Name or category beginning during during during during At Dateof grant of of price of At grant date of before the At exercise date
of participant of year the year the year the year the year 31 March share options* ~ share options ~ share options**  share options exercise date ~ of share options
BEARA R OERE BRESS RERE 34 REBRAE
piyl 4 QR ERfil EREH FREE  ZAZt-B REEH BRETRS  BORE- RUHAH TRAEE kEE
'000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 '000 ‘000 HKS HKS HKS HKS
per share per share per share per share
Th Th Tk Tk Th Th B BE% B 8RR
(Note) (Note)
(W) (i
201
5
Employees
(-1
In aggregate - 38,000 (38,000) - - - 942010 9-4-2010 0 NA 057 057 057
8-4-2020
gt ZE-%% “Z-%f% @R
BANE mANEE
I £2
mANE
2010
—2-2%
Employees
8
In aggregate 10,518 - - (1,052 (9,466) - 20-11-2007 20-11-2007t0 3325 0.09 N/A N/A
19-11-2012
3t IRRLE ZBRtE TR AR
T-AztB  t-AztHEZ
t=AthA

* %

* % %

Note:

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

The exercise price and the number of the share options are
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The price of the Company's shares disclosed as at the date of
grant of the share options is the Stock Exchange closing price
on the trading day on which the options were granted.

On 25 March 2010, a written resolution was passed to cancel
all outstanding share options granted on 20 November 2007
under the 2002 scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, as a result of the
completion of a capital reorganisation of the Company,
adjustments were made to the exercise price and the number

of outstanding share options granted under the 2002 Scheme.

#

IERE R BB h R B HER
ETEHABAL-

R ETTH AR SRAL AL B 1T - AR FRRA
BEMBORE L EEREZTRE
REEATHE-

RERER L ABMRE 2 AR EK
MERRARHBEREZZS BB
Fif 3 2 W T {8 o

RZE—TF=A=-+HHB —HEH
RERERR UEEBERE T —F
FERZZETEFE+—A=-+HEE
A RITE R -

REE-Z-—BFE=A=t+—ALF
B ARAARRER —RBAEM #
BERIE-TT A BIER 2 Bk
TR 2 170 (B S8 E i 9 -
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On 9 April 2010, 38,000,000 share options to subscribe
for the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$0.57 each were granted by the
Company to employees of the Group under the 2002
Scheme and had been fully exercised on the same date. The
38,000,000 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 38,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of HK$3,800,000 and share premium
of HK$17,860,000 (before the transfer of related share
option reserve), as further detailed in note 28(f) to these

financial statements.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant,
using the binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the
subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number
of assumptions of the expected future performance input
to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the model
itself. The value of an option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions. Any change to the
variables used may materially affect the estimation of the fair

value of an option.

Annual Report 2010/11 &£ &

RZZE—ZFMANB ARAIRE
ZT_FHEmAEEREERD
8,000,00017 B g - AR AR 1 B A
REEmAR - BHITEEREK0S7TT B
AE B 2817 RE W17{$£38,000,000
19 B B% # 1% 8% 7738,000,00088 AN 1 &) X
3B AR - 0 38 0 Ak A% B 3,800,0007T K Ak
1734 B 75 % 17,860,000 (REH E 4RI
BARERER)  FBERAMBRKRW T
28(f) °

7z

w

REABRHWUAREEEBREZ AT
B IR E L A BRA - mARA A
I FE R H i LA MO Rk B 1R 1F < BB X
BNEERA-BAABRAGFE XXET
EARGIAR - ANERZ ETBME R —
ZINBREHARAREROBREOE AR
BEEABIHEN UWREAKXFHETH
R BRENEBESS T IHRBERRNEH
FE -MEREHNESHIHBREND

FEMBTMRERZE-



29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Contractual life of options (years)
Exercise price (HK$ per share)
Dividend yield (%)

Historical volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)
Exercise multiple

Exit rate

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was HK$1,051,000 and the whole amount was recognised
as a share option expense during the year ended 31 March
2011 (2010: Nil).

There were no share options outstanding under the 2002
Scheme as at 31 March 2010 and 2011.

RESERVES

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZERBRLQF
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30.
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FRBx#ERTE (@)
TR ZERFRA 2 B

EIRESKFEH (F) 10
THEE (BRBE) 0.57
% B (%) 0.00
B 8 (%) 93
R B N K (%) 2.84
THEEH 1.06
R = -

FARBZBEREZATFTERBEE
1,051,000 BEEBHERNBE_ZT
—— =A==t BILFEERBERE
X (ZZ—TF: &)

RoF-BFR-F-—F=A=t-
B M -FE R8T 2B
e

=4 ]

(a) &=
AEERAFERBAFEZHE
CHNHEDRGARRZEHRF
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30. RESERVES (continued)

30. 0|

(b) Company (b) &RAFE
Reserves
B
Share Capital
premium  redemption  Contributed  Distributable ~ Shareholder's  Share option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve  contribution reserve losses Total
KiEER ExEEREE B8EE  TARRE BRI BRERE ZRER @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE BETT AETr AETR BT BETT AET BRI BETT
At 1 April 2009 RZFENENA-A 347,607 485 39,521 895,331 15,000 4,880 (419,727) 883,097
Capital reorganisation hrEs 28(a) - - - - - - 175917 175917
Placing of new shares RENR () 78,602 - - - - - - 78,602
Shares issue expenses POEDLF 8 (2,700) - - - - - - (2,700)
Cancellation of equity-settled HERRAEERRERS
share options arrangements 29 - - - - - (4,880) 4,880 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ AEE2EHELE - - - - - - (9,205) (9,205)
At 31 March 2010 R-F-5%=f=1-H 423,509 485 39,521 895,331 15,000 - (248,135) 1,125
At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 RZE-FE=A=+-BR
“E5-TERA-A 423,509 485 39,521 895,331 15,000 - (248,135) 112571
Conversion of convertible notes RATERRE 28(d) 319,019 - - - - - - 319,019
Placing of new shares REHRR 28(e) 424024 - - - - - - 424004
Equity-settled share option arrangement  AERAEEBRERH - - - - - 1,051 - 1,051
Exercise of share options TEkkE 28(f) 18,911 - - - - (1,051) - 17,860
Shares issue expenses POEDLF 8 (15,805) - - - - - - (15,805)
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE2EUALE - - - - - - 30,778 30,778
At 31 March 2011 RZF--%=f=1+-H 1,169,658 485 39,521 895,331 15,000 - (217,357) 1,902,638

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the

difference between the nominal value of the share

capital issued by the Company and the underlying net

tangible asset value net of pre-acquisition dividends

and realised pre-acquisition investment property

revaluation reserve of subsidiaries which were acquired

by the Company pursuant to the group reorganisation

in 1992.
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(b) Company (Continued)

The distributable reserve of the Group and the
Company represents the aggregate of the credit
arising from (i) the reduction in the nominal value of
the shares from HK$0.10 each to HK$0.002 each by
cancelling HK$0.098 paid up on each issued share
and the cancellation of share premium account as at
31 October 1998, after a transfer of HK$607,193,000
towards the elimination of the accumulated losses
of the Company at 31 October 1998; (ii) the capital
reduction during the year ended 31 March 2002; and
(iii) the capital reorganisation during the year ended 31
March 2009.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payment transactions in note 2.4 to these
financial statements. The amount is transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are
exercised or is transferred to accumulated losses should
the related options expire or be forfeited or cancelled.

On 30 September 2009, the Group acquired 51.44% equity
interest in Hennabun as a result of the conversion of the
Group’s convertible notes investment with a principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 into 3,125,000,000 new
ordinary shares of Hennabun and the issue of 2012 CN by
the Company as consideration for the Group's acquisition
of ordinary shares of Hennabun from an independent
third party. The Group recognised an excess over the cost
of a business combination of approximately HK$139.0
million, representing the discount to the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of
Hennabun Group, during the year ended 31 March 2010.
The Hennabun Group is engaged in the provision of financial
services including mainly security brokerage, money lending,

margin financing and direct investment.

31 March 2011
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0.107CHIR = & #0.0027T » A Mat
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 31. ¥4 &)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Hennabun®E B a4 Rl EE R B ERURE
the Hennabun Group as at the date of acquisition were as B2z ATFELT:
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
A U BB R RE R
ZAEE
Notes HK$'000
M =E BT T
Property, plant and equipment W BB kEE 13 45,369
Other non-current investment B IERBIEE 74,248
Intangible assets mEAE 4,243
Accounts receivable JE U BR 3R 168,828
Loans receivable W E = 573,223
Prepayments, deposits and TEMFIE - 2SR H M ERGE
other receivables 8,595
Investments at fair value through FREBEUAAFEINEZRE
profit or loss 21,176
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTE 326,412
Accounts payable R BR X (71,957)
Other payables and accruals Hib e FE M EETE A (27,049)
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMEE
other borrowings (15,376)
Bank overdrafts RITHBEL (22,291)
Tax payable FESH IR (4,598)
Amount due to a related company AR R ENGIE Q| (122,383)
Convertible note — Hennabun 2015 CN A #2 (% Z & —Hennabun 2015
TmRER 26 (19,787)
938,653
Less: Non-controlling interests W IR AR R (455,810)
Share of net fair value of identifiable assets AEEEFBIETHREERAE
and liabilities acquired by the Group ZRNFEFE 482,843
Excess over the cost of FBH EEAE FFRRAR
a business combination (138,954)
343,889
Satisfied by: INE Vi
Issue of a convertible note BRI ER 26 93,889
Conversion of convertible note investments H@an iR ZHRE 250,000
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 31. KB & =)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents g Hennabun&EE 2 B E MR FEY
in respect of the acquisition of the Hennabun Group is as ZRNFEDNOT
follows:
2010
—E-EF
HK$'000
BT T
Cash and bank balances acquired Bl 2R e RIRITES 326,412
Bank overdrafts acquired B2 RITEX (22,291)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents WENBAR RS R
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries ReFZEMIRNFRE
304,121
Since its acquisition, the Hennabun Group contributed BRBUAR REBEE_Z-ZF=H
HK$126,625,000 to the Group's revenue and HK$30,601,000 =+ —HIFE Hennabunk B E &
to the Group's consolidated profit for the year ended 31 REB 2 Wz REFEERBND B E BB
March 2010. 126,625,0007T M & #30,601,0007T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the EHREBEE_T—ZTF=-A=+—H1
year ended 31 March 2010, the revenue from the Hennabun FEFEY5THK  Hennabun®E E 7 Wiz &
Group and the results of Hennabun Group contributed to Hennabun B 2 2 &R F A9 Bl A
the Group for the year would have been HK$209,397,000 £ EE BB 5209,397,0000T K BB
and a loss of HK$12,274,000, respectively. 12,274,0007T °
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RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

32. DECONSOLIDATION AND DISPOSAL OF 32. MHIESRHENE AT

SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Gain on deemed disposal of interests in
subsidiaries and deconsolidation
On 1 November 2010, Hennabun entered into
a subscription agreement, an independent third
party, pursuant to which the subscriber agreed to
subscribe and Hennabun agreed to allot and issue
33,333,333 new ordinary shares of Hennabun for a
cash consideration of HK$200,000,000. Following the
completion of the subscription and issuance of new
shares of Hennabun in December 2010, the Group’s
interest in Hennabun was diluted from 51.93% to
41.71%. The Group lost its control over Hennabun as a
result of the dilution of interest and Hennabun became
an associate of the Group thereafter, and a gain of
approximately HK$6,756,000 was recognised by the
Group during the year.

(a)

RUEHEHNBARERZ 2R KR
HEE
WZZE-—ZF+—-—H—H8"
HennabunB B F=FF LR
Bz Bl RBARER
8 MHennabunf@ = AS 2 & % 17
33,333,333M& Hennabun® E @ i%
& R ERE¥200,000,0007T -
R-E—ZTE+-AXKRER
ZE{THennabun® K H & - N & E
M HennabunZ # % B351.93 % #
BEANT1% BN EZEE K
& [# %k £ M Hennabunz {2 H # -
HennabunE &K AN E B 2 B & A
A AEBERFRNBBRKEZN RS
#6,756,0007T °

2011
—E——-F
Notes HK$'000
[iig=2 BT T
Net assets disposed of: EREEEFE:

Property, plant and equipment Y- WE REE 13 39,981
Other non-current investment HMIERBIEE 18 74,248
Intangible assets B EE 23 4,243
Available-for-sale investment AHHERE 380,334
Accounts receivable & I BR 3R 345,036
Loans receivable e E X 2,036,935

Prepayments, deposits and other FERNHRIE 22 R
receivables H {th jE W 5008 45,740
Cash and bank balances Be MIR1THEH 464,991
Deferred tax assets IRIER IR & E 27 2,932
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32.

DECONSOLIDATION AND DISPOSAL OF

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Gain on deemed disposal of interests in

subsidiaries and deconsolidation (Continued)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

2. NAGERHERB LT (&)

(a) BEHERMBLAREZ ZWER
BH&RE (&)

2011
—E——F
Notes HK$'000
B 5E BT T
Investments at fair value through FRBEUATFEINEZRE
profit or loss 17,446
Accounts payable JFE 1T BR 3K (72,317)
Other payables and accruals HMENHIERESER (681,727)
Interest-bearing bank and other AERITREMBEE
borrowings (1,237,953)
Tax payable FERFIIR (8,627)
Hennabun 300 CN Hennabun 3007 # fi% 2 1% 26 (297,210)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M A (535,525)
578,527
Less: Retained investment in Hennabun & : #& A F & A Bk 2 Hennabunf®r 8
at fair value ®E (548,091)
30,436
Less: Reclassification of cumulative B BUBGERENSFAAIHEE
revaluation gain from the BEEHHEE 2 R EMHKE
available-for-sale investment E ks
revaluation reserve to the income
statement upon deconsolidation (37,192)
Gain on deemed disposal of interests  R{EHEHE QA Az 2 W
in subsidiaries

5 (6,756)
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31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

(a) Gain on deemed disposal of interests in
subsidiaries and deconsolidation (Continued)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the deemed disposal of
interests in subsidiaries is as follows:

Cash and bank balances disposed of HERS RIBTES

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries
During the year, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interests in Sunny Soar Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in property
investments, to an independent third party, at a total
cash consideration of HK$52,000,000 pursuant to a
sale and purchase agreement dated 17 May 2010.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
disposed of its entire equity interest in a subsidiary,
which was principally engaged in property investment,
to an independent third party at a cash consideration
of HK$3,270,000.

Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFME:
Property, plant and equipment E N
Investment properties wEME
Prepayment and deposits ENRIERZES
Accruals and other payables BstERK

Hh JE 508
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBBAE
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(a)

(b)

Notes

B &

13
14

27

RIFLERMBLAEZZRER
BUH&S (&)
BIELEMNBARERZRERE
SFEYFRLONAOT

2011
—F——F
HK$'000
BETT

464,991

HEMEAR

RAFE AEERE-_ZT—F
FRAA+EtHZEEHZE A—
HE 7 E =7 EERSunny Soar
Investments Limited & E Bff & 2 &
(FEREWERE) 2 2 PRAE
@ REREREES52,000,0007T

REZ2-E—ZF=ZA=+—H1
FE ARARA—ZBILE=ZAH
E-—HETEREWERENHRB A
AR AER RERERE
#3,270,0007T °

2011 2010
—g--% -T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
11,984 -
42,010 770
1,044 -
(458) -

(900) -
53,680 770



32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

32. HEMWB AR (&)
(a) BHEHEMBEAR (£)

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
N=a BEET T BT T
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARZ
Wz, (E1#8) 5,6 (1,680) 2,500
52,000 3,270
Satisfied by cash LAIR & 7 52,000 3,270

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is
as follows:

BHHENBATZRERALS
BEMFAFESFOT -

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cash consideration received and net KHRRERERBEBALE
inflow of cash and cash equivalents in B AR ZES M
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries R & S EYW R AFEE 52,000 3,270

33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Apart from the transactions detailed in notes 16 and 32(a)
to these financial statements, the Group had no major non-
cash transactions of investment and financing activities
during the year ended 31 March 2011.

As detailed in note 31 to these financial statements,
the convertible notes in the principal amount of
HK$250,000,000 were converted into 3,125,000,000 new
ordinary shares of Hennabun, representing 22.76% of its
then equity interest, during the year ended 31 March 2010.

33.XEBFRAEXTH
B 7R B 5 3R R M iR 16 K 32(a) A sttt 2 &2
PO RBE-_T——&=ZA=+—H81
FEN AEEVETRABERERRBE
EB2TBHBAER S -

AR SRR M 31 EE A REE =
T-TFE-A=-Z+—HLFER AEHE
A 7#%250,000,000T 2 AT R = B
JE 3,4 /53,125,000,000f% Hennabun
TR (REER ZRAEZR22.76% °
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARAA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, which are secured by the assets of the Group,
are included in notes 13, 14, 22 and 25 to these financial

statements.

35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
under operating lease arrangements, with leases

negotiated for terms ranging from one to four years.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

34. BEEH
REBZARBITREMES (UAXEE
ZEBEEER) 2 FBERN AN KRR M
FE13 14 22/%25¢

35. EEHHRBE

(a)

EREEA
AEBRBEEHEOTHEAER
BWE (HE14)  LEBEEERBN
T EmE-

RZZE——F=R=+—H £&
ERREETE S 2 A HH R S
WA 2 AR EEERKFKIAL
BMZBMBERIT

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Within one year —F R 2,731 2,674
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ERhF (BREEEMT) 799 1,201
3,530 3,875

Annual Report 2010/11 F %}




35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

As lessee
The Group leases staff quarters and office premises
under operating lease arrangements. The leases for the

properties are negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable

operating leases falling due as follows:

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGEZERBRLQF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

35. BEHVEREE &)

(b) FERFEBEA

AEBERBEEEMOLHAEET
BEEMMAEME -KEHRYE
HER/MEF -

\ZE-—FZA=+-R 4%
AR T A S 4 RO BRI
RARIEAE N R 2 B R
T :

Group
KEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Within one year —F RN 3,976 9,174
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ERF (BIEEEMF) 2,631 28
6,607 9,202
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RECEZRERAF
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B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—F——F=ZH=+—H

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not

36. LARRIR
RIEER - I WA B R R B2

provided for in the financial statements were as follows: HABBENT:
Group Company
rEE EAH
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——-F Z-TF ZEBE--F —ZT-ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BETT BRI BETT

Guarantees given to banks in BB A R ERRE
connection with facilities i A ER1T M AR
granted to subsidiaries (Bfg5E25)

(note 25)

As at 31 March 2011, the banking facilities granted to
certain subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to banks by
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$69,690,000 (2010: HK$74,737,000).

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions and arrangements

detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the

= - 85,141 85,141

N-TE——F=ZA=+—H #EAQEM
RITREERE ETHEAR D ER
RITEVE - WE B A AE%69,690,0007T
(ZZE—ZF :8%74,737,0007T) °

37. AELX S
(@) BEBRERAMBOAFLZ XS
RZPEN - AR P ARG A

Group had the following transactions with related TENUNTRS:
parties during the year:
2011 2010
— —T-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{iN=s BET T BT T
An associate A= W/NS)
(including its subsidiaries): (BEEWBAR) :
Loan interest income =&V ON (i) 2,896 -
Commission and brokerage fees KREFHBEEZ
from securities dealings S S PN (ii) 655 -
Commission fee (RS ON (iii) 13,750 -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) In addition to the transactions and arrangements

detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the

Group had the following transactions with related

parties during the year: (Continued)

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)

The loan interest income arose from a loan facility
granted to an associate during the year, further details
of which are set out in note 16 to these financial
statements. The loan was unsecured, bore interest
at 2% over the Hong Kong dollar prime lending rate
as quoted by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited and was fully settled during the

year.

The commission and brokerage fees were paid to a
subsidiary of an associate of the Group for securities
brokerage services rendered. The terms and conditions
associated with the dealing of securities were made
according to the terms and conditions offered to

external customers of that entity.

The placing commission fee was paid to a subsidiary of
an associate of the Group who acted as a placing agent
for an aggregate of 2,000,000,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company. The commission fee was based on

2.5% of transaction value.

(b) Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

During the current year, Mr. Andrew Liu, a non-
executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, acts as a guarantor in respect
of the acquisition of the Beneficial Interests
during the year. Further details are disclosed in
note 17 to these financial statements and in the

Company's circular dated 30 December 2010.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

37.AELX S (&)
(@) BUMBRERAMBAFLZZS
REZ PN - 7 B AR [ R
FEATRS: (#)

GEE

i

ki

A BHA KB R E AR —E
ERRBRENESRE E—F
HBEENATBREMTI6-&
RAEER  REE LEEQRT
P 88 TR B EF E 2% 8
ERERNBBEE-

(i) FMEHREFELRBINTAE
IR il /N D =N
MRS RELE - FHFEERK
TGt ERAERI R, IR
B 1R R B AR 1

(i)  Bt4& #£2,000,000,00088 A A &) #h
EEE A —REREERENAR
SE-—HBERARZMBRRX
NEERZ - HE/XHEED
2.5% °

(b) EHEEELHWHMRS:
iy MAFE KRARPERTES
RIZRREEMBEL AR
FAKRBEER#ENETER
A o B LR IT A B 75 T K MY
HITRARA AR T —
ZE+-A=THONBRPHE

= o

Annual Report 2010/11 & #k

193



194

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

(b)

(o)

Other transactions with related parties: (b) EEBEEFNHEMRZS: (£)
(Continued)
(i) During the current year, Mr. Andrew Liu entered iy MNAFE BHEfHiLtEH

into a loan agreement with Hennabun under
which a loan facility of US$50,000,000 was
drawn by Hennabun. The loan was unsecured,

bore interest at 10% per annum and was fully

repaid in March 2011.

Hennabunil 2 E# 0 @ 1K1t
Hennabun $#2 BX50,000,000
ETZENRME - ZEXRRE
R REMEI0%E - R
ER=ZTE——F=A2HE

o

A8

(iiiy  During the current year, Mr. Andrew Liu exercised (i) MNAFE BRBEETER

his conversion rights of 1,236,363,634 ordinary
shares of the Company attached to the Firm Bond
and Optional Bond. Further details of the Firm

Bond and Optional Bond are as disclosed in note

AlfEs RHRES WY R
1,236,363,634A8 A A 7] & i@
Mz P - RN RIES KR
HREF E—THBERUH

26 to these financial statements. R 260 55 -
Compensation of key management personnel of (00 ZAEBXEEEABZEHM:
the Group:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Short term employee benefits EHEERT 4,483 3,780
Post-employment payments RIREFR 115 72
Total compensation paid to key EREEEEAE L2 85
management personnel 4,598 3,852
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in EEHFME—THFBERRNERUTH@wmE

note 8 to these financial statements.
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

2011
—2——%

Financial assets

TREE

Available-for-sale investment
(note 17)

Loans receivable (note 19)

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
(note 22)

Cash and bank balances
(note 24)

AHEERE
(KsE17)

FEAE R (P EE19)
BENENFER &
RE M EYRRIE Z

TREE

BRBERARFEINEZ
& (KiE22)

W MIRTTREER

(Fff5E24)

Available
for-sale
financial

asset

AHREE
tRMEE
HK$°000
BT T

425,729

425,729

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

RBEMR SREZERTAZEEE

UM
Group
rEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
- held for Loans and
trading receivables
ERER
AT EY &
ZERMEE EXR
-REEE FE W IE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BET R
- 30,125
- 4,728
1,033,901 -
- 382,624
1,033,901 417,477

Total

#at
HK$'000
BT T

425,729
30,125

4,728

1,033,901

382,624

1,877,107
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (Continued)

3. RENMANzeMTI R &)

RBEHR SEEZEMTAZERE
MR (4E)

2011 Group
—E——F rEH
Financial liabilities
cRAas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R A
ZeRAE
HK$’'000
BET T
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEAREMENHEREFER
and accruals TRIBME 3,560
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITRHEMEE
(note 25) (BfzE25) 335,121
338,681
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011

—F——#FZH=+—H

38. HEBMBAZEMIA ()

RBEMR SRECERTAZERE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as WM (&)
follows: (Continued)
2010 Group
—E-TF ALE
Financial assets
THEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
Available through
for-sale  profit or loss
financial - held for Loans and
asset trading receivables Total
BiRER
AR AR
AfHE JEREE XK
TREE —B{EEE J& W TR IE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investment a] fit i &£ 18 &

(note 17) (PfEE17) 325,273 - - 325,273
Accounts receivable (note 20) &4 8% 3% (Bt 5E20) - - 395,286 395,286
Loans receivable (note 19)  FEULE K (KI5E19) - - 603,648 603,648
Financial assets included in B ERTEMNFIE - Ze Rk

prepayments, deposits and ~ HHERFEZ @A E

other receivables - - 19,248 19,248
Investments at fair value EBREBZURFESER

through profit or loss 235 E (fisE22)

(note 22) - 864,913 - 864,913
Cash and bank balances Re RIBTTHE®

(note 24) (M$5E24) - - 170,249 170,249

325,273 864,913 1,188,431 2,378,617
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31 March 2011
—EFE——F=ZHA=+—H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (Continued)

3. mMENEBNcEmMIA »)

%

MEBR SBECEBTAZEREE
mr ()

2010 Group
—E-2F REH
Financial liabilities
cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
ZEMARE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FE TR K 60,456
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEREMENSHKEBERETER
and accruals ZEmasE 80,758
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ARERITREMEE
(note 25) (Ff3E25) 298,153
Convertible notes (note 26) Al AR R (B 5E26) 221,118
660,485
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAA

Notes to Financial Statements

B R R AR B A

31 March 2011

—F——#=H=+—A

3. mMENEBNcEmMIA »)

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEMR SBE eI AZEKREMA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as WM (&)
follows: (Continued)
Company
NN
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T
Financial assets cHEE
Loans and receivables: BRI EWRIE
Financial assets included in interests BERMBAR 2 ERm 2
in subsidiaries (note 15) TREE (FE15) 62,947 57,860
Due from subsidiaries & WA B /B8 1% B 5K IB 2,456,705 1,081,604
Other receivables H fth f& WK IE 42 43
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHE R 59,662 18,468
2,579,356 1,157,975
Financial liabilities cREeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHEHAAZ CRBE:
Due to subsidiaries JE 1~ B JB A B F A 13,383 2,372
Financial liabilities included in other B8 7 H At FE AT R IE K FE 5T B
payables and accruals ZemAE 359 1,897
Interest-bearing other borrowing ATEEMEER
(note 25) (HfzE25) 200,000 -
213,742 4,269
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RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

39. 2FHR A FEHSHREE

AEBRARREMIAZEREELR

Company's financial instruments are as follows: FEIMT:
Group AEME
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF —E-——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BB T BETR BB T
Financial assets eWMIA
Available-for-sale AHEERSE
investments 425,729 325,273 N/ATRE A 325,273
Accounts receivable JIE W BR 3K - 395,286 - 395,286
Loans receivable FEW E TR 30,125 603,648 30,125 603,648
Financial assets included BIFEREMNHE EE
in prepayments, deposits K E b & Uk 8
and other receivables ZEREBEE 4,728 19,248 4,728 19,248
Investments at fair value FEiBEz= AR TFEVIER
through profit or loss ZIE 1,033,901 864,913 1,033,901 864,913
Cash and bank balances 3R ® RIRT4 & 382,624 170,249 382,624 170,249
Financial liabilities =R
Accounts payable JE T BR X = 60,456 = 60,456
Financial liabilities included & 35 7 H fth & (- 50 H &
in other payables and ErrERze/RAE
accruals 3,560 80,758 3,560 80,758
Interest-bearing bank and s ERITREMEE
other borrowings 335,121 298,153 335,121 298,153
Convertible notes AR EE - 221,118 - 221,118
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. 2FHR O FERRERE =)

(Continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's and the REBRAQAGeRTAZETERR
Company'’s financial instruments are as follows: (Continued) EEWMT (&)
Company QA
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE DY E
2011 2010 2011 2010
22— "ZT-TF ZEBE--F "IT-ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BET R BT
Financial assets SRMIA
Financial assets included in BIERKIE AR ZEm 2
interests in subsidiaries & EIEE 62,947 57,860 62,947 57,860
Due from subsidiaries & U T /B8 2 A 3R IR 2,456,705 1,081,604 2,456,705 1,081,604
Other receivables H fth & W R IE 42 43 42 43
Cash and bank balances IR& NIRTT4 % 59,662 18,468 59,662 18,468
Financial liabilities SRAE
Due to subsidiaries R EENGIE 13,383 2,372 13,383 2,372

Financial liabilities included £ #& 7 H fth & 1+ 5118
in other payables and EEtERAZzeMARE

accruals 359 1,897 359 1,897
Interest-bearing other FFEHMEER
borrowing 200,000 - 200,000 -
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
(Continued)
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

Cash and bank balances, account receivables, loans
receivable, account payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and
amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of

these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing
other borrowing has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The fair value of the liability portion of the
convertible notes is estimated using an equivalent market

interest rate for a similar convertible note.
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(Continued)

The fair values of listed investments are based on quoted
market price. The fair value of unlisted investments have
been estimated using valuation techniques based on
observable inputs, which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value, either directly or indirectly. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the
valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes
in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most

appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
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30. AFERAFESHWEE &)

EHRENDATFEEREMBHE FL
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EWH MRS A TEEEARE -EEHH
EBMEFEDE Y ELEAZGAPBR
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

30. AFERAFESHREE 2

(Continued)
Group REH
Assets measured at fair value: DATFEFEZEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB BB E=B wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BET T BETT
As at 31 March 2011: RZFE——4F
ZA=+—-H:
Investments at fair value FBEEUARNTE
through profit or loss IR ZIEE 982,265 51,636 - 1,033,901
As at 31 March 2010: R-ZFE-FF
=A=+—H
Available-for-sale investment 7] fit i £ 18 & - 325,273 - 325,273
Investments at fair value BBEZARNTEE
through profit or loss FiR 2/ E 844,418 20,495 - 864,913
844,418 345,768 - 1,190,186

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at

fair value as at 31 March 2011 and 2010.

The Company did not have any financial assets or liabilities

measured at fair value as at 31 March 2011 and 2010.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 (2010: Nil).
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank
borrowings, convertible notes, other interest-bearing
borrowings, and cash and bank deposits. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable, loans
receivable, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, investments at fair value through
profit or loss, available-for-sale investments, accounts
payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, and convertible notes, which mainly arise directly

from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity
price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised

below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to its interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are
mainly loans receivable and bank deposits primarily at
floating interest rates which are mostly short term in nature
whereas financial liabilities are mainly bank and other
borrowings at floating interest rates. The Group's policy is to

obtain the most favourable interest rate available.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax (through the impact on floating rate bank deposits, loans

receivable and borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EEZERAERQA

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2011
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

40. RIS TEEEREE 2)

Interest rate risk (Continued) =R (&)
Group
rEH
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
BRBE AT
HE EB R
®@m, CRL) WD () Ei CED)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2011 —E——F
Hong Kong dollar ks 25 (144) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 144 =
Group
NEE
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B 5 Al
I il g
#gm Omd) o ORd)  #Ein/ Ofid)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2010 —E-FF
Hong Kong dollar ok 25 1,076 -
Hong Kong dollar ok (25) (1,076) -
* Excluding retained profits/(accumulated losses) * TRERERTN(REEE)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to accounts
receivable, loans receivable, bank balances, available-for-
sale investments, investments at fair value through profit
or loss, and other receivables arises from default of the
counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group's loans
and accounts receivable arise from the ordinary course of
business of the Group and are closely monitored by the
directors on an ongoing basis. The Company is also exposed
to credit risk through the granting of financial guarantees,
further details of which are disclosed in note 36 to these
financial statements. Further quantitative data in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from loans
and accounts receivable are disclosed in notes 19 and 20,

respectively, to these financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group's liquidity risk is minimal in the current year
and is managed by matching the raising of loans or equity
funding to cover expected cash demands. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet

its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

REGXEZERARQH

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
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40. I RMEE A WREE o)

FERKE
AEERHHFENELEZETEEERAR
EEAR R EURE K RITAE £ - AT 4R
HERE - BBBENAFAEIEZRE
REMEYRIBR R - AR AR ERZ
SETAZERE - AEE 2 ERERRE
REAEE - REKBEFEE WHE
ERERTEEE ARBTEE LM EE
RMEHEERRE & —PF BRI
HMERMTI6HE - AN EERE R KIE
WERSI B2 EERR 2 E—FTHER
DRI AN B S 3R R M TE 19 R 204 B8

REBETER
AEERFAZABHESRBRER WiB
BEFRIBARERMNAHRSFRM
EE - AKEZBRREREERE LA
HRSESFRIEBEERZL - AR
RER RIE S FHME - RN EHREY
ZRBERHRK-

Annual Report 2010/11 & %R

207



FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

40. UERREE B RMBEE #)

REBESRE (&)
RBEPRR  AEBEBRAGEREHKRT

ANRZBBBERAT

Group 2011
rEE —E——F
Within 1 year 1to2
or on demand years Total
—FHURAH
RERK S st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT T
Financial liabilities included in £ & B £ b J& {4 7018 &
other payables and accruals EEABRAzeRmAE 3,560 - 3,560
Interest-bearing bank and AERITREMEE
other borrowings 142,872 202,521 345,393
146,432 202,521 348,953
2010
—E-FF
Within 1 year 1102
or on demand years Total
—F ARk
N —EWMF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Accounts payable JE S BR X 60,456 - 60,456
Financial liabilities included in &2 3% 7 E fth & < 5018 I
other payables and accruals [EstERzemaE 80,758 - 80,758
Interest-bearing bank and other & BR{TRHEMEE
borrowings 319,110 - 319,110
Convertible notes AHRRRE - 301,000 301,000
460,324 301,000 761,324
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAFA
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B RS AR Y A

31 March 2011
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40. UERREE B RMBEE #)

REBESER (&)

Company 2011
RKATF —E——f
Within 1 year 1to2
or on demand years Total
—FHR
A ERE —EWF Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BET T
Due to subsidiaries JFE 1<t BT /88 1% R) R IA 13,383 - 13,383
Financial liabilities included /8 #5745 70IB K
in other payables and ErERzemERE
accruals 359 - 359
Interest-bearing other AEREMEE
borrowing - 202,521 202,521
Guarantees given to banks FLHf B QB EREE
in connection with ifo (M) #R 17 1E B IR
facilities granted to (M$5E36)
subsidiaries (note 36) 69,690 - 69,690
83,432 202,521 285,953
2010
—_E-ZF
Within 1 year
or on demand
—F AR
IR E K
HK$'000
BT T
Due to subsidiaries FET BT B A R 5K E 2,372
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEREMENRBENEFEAZS/REE
and accruals 1,897
Guarantees given to banks in connection with Fi M B A 7 EEBVE A BT EH R
facilities granted to subsidiaries (note 36) (Kt5E36) 74,737

79,006

Annual Report 2010/11 & %R

209



31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual
equity investments classified as trading equity investments
(note 22) and available-for-sale investment (note 17). The
Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong Kong and
Singapore stock exchanges and are valued at quoted market

prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments
and convertible bonds to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax. For
the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity
investment, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve and no account is gained
for factors such as impairment which might impact the

income statement.

B 4 B A L B

P (B8 4% L B 45 el 1 BCRE 48 BROK T K% f
HEFEBEZHEHRRAES R FER
Dz Rk REEZ BEEBRRRKE D
BRkEEERE (Mi22) RAa#HtE
BE (ME17) 2 BRI R E - A& H
Z LR E G TR B X P KR IR
HFR B EW  RBRERRAT S HRET
R

REGZBKRIEERATBERESAFE
HHFSNEH CHBE EFREMEB
HpBHEFTE - IR R R
Bo-pADWME HARLERERE

TERAAHIHEERESHHER
ZHE LESARAEFE NG R ZRE

Carrying Change
amount of  in profit/(loss) Change
investments before tax in equity*

REZ  BRBAER
fREE (BR)25 EE2H*

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB T BT
2011 —E——F
Trading investments listed in: BEHREz L
- Hong Kong &8 964,452 48,223 =
- Singapore — N 17,813 891 -
Unlisted investments at fair value ~ 3EETIRE A FE
— Convertible notes -~ BRREE 51,636 2,582 =
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
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31 March 2011
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40. MERREBRHAFEHREE »2)

Equity price risk (Continued) REERRERE (&)
Carrying Change
amount of  in profit/(loss) Change
investments before tax in equity*
REZ BRBLATE A,
HREE (BR)28 EE2E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
2010 —_T-FF
Trading investments listed in: BE®REZ L
- Hong Kong —&% 828,808 41,440 -
- Singapore — 03 15,610 781 -
Unlisted investments at fair value ~ 3EETIRE - A FE
— Convertible notes —ARRRR 20,495 1,025 -
— Available-for-sale investment —AEHERE 325,273 - 16,264
* Excluding retained profits/(accumulated losses) * TRIFREHF, (REEE)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements
except for certain previous subsidiaries principally engaged
in securities and futures dealing and broking, corporate
finance and advisory, nominee and custodian services, which
are regulated entities under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC"”). No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

EXERE

AEEEAERZ TEABERREALE
ZRBREENRERRIEZERLE R
X FEEB R RRREERAEE-

AEBEREEERR 2 ZEREREEZ
RS EEREEERNEBLFLRAE B
M RHBENGERE AEERERER
NFRRZBE - ARRRERASKET
MR -BRETIBEREESFLHAEESR
R EBENMER KBARTE
ARB 2B AR (MRXEEERR
HEEKERZES ([RESDREL
BRI AEEYEZRNIMNEDIEMNZ
BABE RBE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—
B —Z-—ZTF=A=+—HBIMEF
EA AEBEYENEHLEAERAR.
B ARFF
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and the liability
component of convertible notes divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as

at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

40.

MERBEEAREARR o)

EXER (&)
AEERBEELREREN (EELE
BET BRI R EMEERAIBREREZE
BEEMORIAARRRGER ARG EETE -
RBEMR AEE2BELRNT

Group KEE
2011 2010
2% i
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEE
borrowings 335,121 298,153
Convertible notes, the liability AIMRERE aEHS
component - 221,118
335,121 519,271
Equity attributable to owners of the PN/NECIE RS N g
Company 2,501,824 1,528,222
Gearing ratio BEL® 13.4% 34.0%
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Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,

the following significant events of the Group occurred after

the end of the reporting period:

(a)

On 13 April 2011, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Cordoba to dispose of its
entire equity interest in Future Master Investments
Limited (“Future Master”),
subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration of
HK$120,000,000. Major assets of Future Master and

its subsidiaries (“Future Master Group"”) are investment

a wholly-owned

properties and leasehold land and buildings with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$140,854,000
and HK$23,271,000, respectively, as at 31 March
2011. In addition, the Group had agreed to provided
guarantees to the lenders in respect of the mortgage
loans made by Future Master Group for a term of one
year from the date of completion of the transaction. A
guarantee fee of 1.25% per annum on the outstanding
mortgage loans balance at each month was agreed
to be charged by the Group to Cordoba. The disposal
of Future Master was completed in April 2011, which
was satisfied by the issue and allotment of Cordoba’s
new ordinary shares to the Group. The resulted gain
on disposal of Future Master Group, before tax and
related transaction costs, is estimated at approximately
HK$35,000,000.

On 17 May 2011,

subscription agreement with Hennabun,

the Group entered into a
pursuant
to which the Group has agreed to subscribe for a
redeemable zero-coupon convertible note of Hennabun
in the principal amount of HK$250,000,000. The
subscription consideration of HK$250,000,000
shall be satisfied upon completion through setting
off the principal amount of an outstanding loan of
HK$250,000,000 due from Hennabun to the Group
(note 16). This transaction has not yet completed up to

the date of approval of these financial statements.

31 March 2011
—F——fF=ZHA=+—H

UM BHREREMBOAWEEIN AT R
AEBRRERRELEZCEERIR:

RZE——FWNA+=H K&
E # Cordobaf] L B & M
HEERARAZENEB QA
Future Master Investments Limited
([Future Master]) Z & ZP % A
Ewm- RERB®120,000,000
JC ° Future MasterX £ i B 2 &
(Future Master£E | ) 2 T E& &
BEREMEULRBEL W RET
RZE——F=ZA=+—H HEK
[H B 9 Bl 4 7% 78 #140,854,000
T K 5 #623,271,0007T * 4N AR
& @ FLFuture Masterss [ Fr 32 BY
ZEBEFRMEAELH BB —F
ZER BTEKXSEBRB AR
SEREAROREERIBER
# F8 M Cordobalk BN EF F1.25% 2
R E - HEFuture Masteri® ==&
——F AR AR AL BT
K B2 3% Cordoba¥h & i A% 45 14 -
& Future Masterts B ~ Br #i & 47
B Z 5B AR W s G EH A B T
35,000,0007T °

R—_E——FAA++tHB AEE
B Hennabunil 32 — M R E W&
Bt A KB FEWEHennabunm]
EOTEAUMBRER ASBEAE
#£250,000,0007TC ° R RE BB
250,000 OOOTEH#E/\\ﬁ:ﬁJZTéﬁﬂﬁ
fHHennabunENANEB 2 KEEE
KA B %250,000,00075&1#
(M3E16) - EEHLE T BB SR %
HE - WX S EARTK

Annual Report 2010/11 & #k

213



214

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
BEEZRARAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 AR B &

31 March 2011
—EF——F=ZHA=+—H

41.

42.

43,

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

() As further explained in note 17 to these financial
statements and in the Company's circular dated 25
June 2011, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement on 17 May 2011 with Mr. Liu Lit Man and
Mrs. Liu Heu Seu Chu Pearl to dispose of its Beneficial
Interests in Liu's Holding Limited, an available-

for-sale investment of the Group, at an aggregate

consideration of approximately HK$425,729,000. No
significant gain or loss is expected from the disposal
after taking into account of the impairment loss on the

investment recognised by the Group during the year.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to these financial
statements, due to the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs during the current year, the accounting treatment
and presentation of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised to comply with
the new requirements. Accordingly, certain prior year
adjustments have been made and certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with
the current year’s presentation and accounting treatment,
and a third consolidated statement of financial position as at

1 April 2009 has been presented.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2011.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRARATF

Five Year Financial Summary

TEMBHRE

AEERMAEMRFEZREUNREE A
BERIFEREDE 2 ME (MEAEAMEER

as extracted from the published audited financial statements and MBREWELEY " EHHE (MER) )H
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. HIEA T
RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HILEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
=R —T-TF _—TTAF Z—TBTN\F CTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BET T BB T BETT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS @B EE XK
REVENUE g 89,630 169,570 9,605 85,340 21,467
Profit/(loss) before tax BRRER (EE) (168,811) 308,047 (432,210) (396,357) (214,960)
Income tax expense Frig Ml % (2,687) (4,187) 1,862 (7,351) 1,927
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRAFBELELEK 2
continuing operations wH S (EE) (171,498) 303,860 (430,348) (403,708) (213,033)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION & |F 4R & % 3%
Profit for the year from a RIFEEER 2
discontinued operation F AN g A - - - - 771
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERHF, (&) (171,498) 303,860 (430,348) (403,708) (212,262)
Attributable to: THA LM :
Owners of the Company AN/NEIE ZSIN (189,530) 297,486 (430,348) (403,708) (212,262)
Non-controlling interests JEIE IR 18,032 6,374 - - -
(171,498) 303,860 (430,348) (403,708) (212,262)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BEE SBRLRFEEKRES
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
R=A=+-H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—E-—-§ ZEZ-2F ZETNF ZLTTN\F TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T BET T BET T
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 2,851,884 2,714,280 1,199,190 1,086,324 661,100
TOTAL LIABILITIES BERE (350,060) (673,270) (118,330) (143,015) (71,862)
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS = (512,788) - - -
2,501,824 1,528,222 1,080,860 943,309 589,238
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FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
RECEZRERAF

Schedule of Investment Properties

REWMER

Attributable
interest

Location of the Group

i ¥ FEEELES

Tenure

HE

Existing
use

REEAR

11th Floor, Units 801, 100%
1601, 1610-1611,

2801-2803, 2806 of

China United Centre

28 Marble Road

North Point

Hong Kong

BB 100%
in=:

588285

FEEFR L

1142 - 801 -

1601 ~ 161021611 ~ 2801%

2803 - 2806%

Annual Report 2010/11 F %}

Long term lease

RHAELD

Commercial

7 A
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